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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EEHE

| am pleased to present the annual results for the year ended
31 March 2021 of Yun Lee Marine Group Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) on behalf of the
Board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Company. The Group is
a maritime services provider in Hong Kong with over 20 years of
operating history. Services of the Group include (i) vessel chartering
and related services; and (i) ship management.

The shares of the Company had successfully listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) on 18 March 2019 (the “Listing”)

During the year, the Group continued to develop new sources of
customers for the vessels chartering services and strengthen our
fleet to satisfy the increasing demand of vessel chartering in the
future. The Group recorded an increase in revenue from vessel
chartering services of certain major marine construction projects.
It is expected that the demand of vessel chartering services of
related projects will continue to increase, bringing momentum to
the growth of revenue and profits for the Group.

The Group’s financial position is solid. Listing also improved the
Group’s market position and reputation, which helps sustain the
Group’s existing business relationship with suppliers and customer
networks, while maintaining our leading position in the industry, as
well as expanding our opportunities in new projects.
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ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The Group’s success this year relies on the efforts made by all
our staff and the management team during the past year. | would
like to express my sincere gratitude on behalf of the Board to the
management and staff for their tremendous efforts and valuable
contribution in the past year and hope that we will continue to
receive all your support in the future. We will continue to join hands
with the shareholders and staff members to turn to a new and
pbrighter future.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is a maritime services provider in Hong Kong with over
20 years of operating history. The principle activities of the Group
are provision of (i) vessel chartering and related services; and (i)
ship management in Hong Kong. The Group’s vessel chartering
and related services include () time charter services; (ii) voyage
charter services; and (iii) other related services, such as provision
of crew members, maritime consultation services and vessel repair
and maintenance services. The Group provided its time charter and
voyage charter services through its vessel fleet, which comprises
(i) 36 self-owned vessels and (i) vessels chartered from third-party
vessel suppliers from time to time.

The shares of the Company had successfully listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 18 March
2019.

During the year, the Group provided its vessel chartering and
related services mainly to the marine construction contractors
of several marine infrastructure projects in Hong Kong, including
the Three-Runway System project in the Hong Kong International
Airport (“8RS Project”), Integrated Waste Management Facilities
Phase 1 project in Shek Kwu Chau (‘IWMF Project”), and Tung
Chung New Town Extension project (“Tung Chung Project”).

In August 2019, the Group has completed subscription of 51%
in New Legend Ferry Services Limited (‘New Legend”) at a
subscription price of HK$34.5 million. New Legend is a company
incorporated with limited liability in Hong Kong and is principally
engaged in vessels operation in Hong Kong. New Legend owned
(i) nine used launches with the carrying capacities ranged from
45 persons to 92 persons; and (i) four new launches which were
under construction. Upon completion, New Legend has became
a subsidiary of the Group. The subscription price was settled in
full upon completion and was financed by a portion of the net
proceeds generated from the Listing.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BB WS

BUSINESS PROSPECTS

As there are numbers of high-profile development projects and
infrastructure projects related to marine construction works were
initiated by the government of Hong Kong in recent years, the
management of the Group expects the demand of the Group’s
vessel chartering and related services for these marine construction
projects would increase steadily, and such projects are expected
to contribute to the Group’s revenue in the future. The Group
will continue to invest in its vessel fleet in order to capture such
business opportunities.

The revenue and profits from the Group’s ship management
business is expected to remain stable going forward.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group’s total revenue increased by approximately 11.7%, from
approximately HK$202,418,000 for the year ended 31 March 2020
to approximately HK$226,194,000 for the year ended 31 March
2021. Such increase was mainly attributable to the increase in the
revenue of the Group’s vessel chartering and related services by
approximately 13.4%, from approximately HK$177,194,000 for
the year ended 31 March 2020 to approximately HK$200,850,000
for the year ended 31 March 2021, which was mainly due to
the increased revenue of vessel chartering and related services
rendered to major marine construction projects such as IWMF
Project and Tung Chung Project.
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Cost of revenue

The Group’s cost of revenue primarily consists of vessel chartering
costs, staff costs and related expenses, subcontracting fees, repair
and maintenance expenses, fuel costs, depreciation expenses,
and other costs. The cost of revenue increased by approximately
10.0%, from approximately HK$150,810,000 for the year ended 31
March 2020 to approximately HK$165,952,000 for the year ended
31 March 2021, which was mainly attributable to the increased
staff costs due to the increased number of crews and the general
increase in the wage level.

Gross profit and gross profit margins

The Group’s gross profit increase by approximately 16.7%, from
approximately HK$51,608,000 for the year ended 31 March 2020
to approximately HK$60,242,000 for the year ended 31 March
2021. Meanwhile, the Group’s gross profit margin remained stable
and recorded an increase by approximately 1.1 percentage point
from approximately 25.5% for the year ended 31 March 2020 to
approximately 26.6% for the year ended 31 March 2021.

Y 25 R A
AEBENWEAANEZERERMEERK
A BIKARBEERAS H2B2EH-
HERRERY  MEKEK - TERX
REMKA - WK ABHBE-_ZT_F
F=A=+—H1EFE 4 150,810,000
BT MH10.0%EHE T = —F
= A=+—H1EFE#165952,000/%
T EERERMBEHE BB INERF K
TR FAEEE TR -

EFRERE
AEENENBHBEE_T_TF=A
=+—HI-FE451,608,0008 T N
16 7% EBE_T-_—F=—A=+—
B IF & & #960,242,0007% JT £ it [
B AEBENEREE_T_TF=
A=+ —BIEFE#255%% n%1.1
HaEsEEz8Hz—_ZT-_—F=A=+—
HIEFE#)26.6% °



Yun Lee Marine Group Holdings Limited JEF/§=£EZKR AR AR

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Other income

The Group’s other income increased by approximately 464.2%,
from approximately HK$1,904,000 for the year ended 31 March
2020 to approximately HK$10,743,000 for the year ended
31 March 2021. Such increase was mainly attributable by the
recognition of government grants of HK$8,731,000 in respect of
COVID-19 related subsidies.

Other gains and losses

The Group’s other gains increased from approximately
HK$2,801,000 for the year ended 31 March 2020 to approximately
HK$3,685,000 for the year ended 31 March 2021. Such other
gains mainly represented by the recognition of non-recurring gains
on disposal of vessels during the year ended 31 March 2021.

Administrative expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses decreased by approximately
17.3%, from approximately HK$44,492,000 for the year ended 31
March 2020 to approximately HK$36,793,000 for the year ended
31 March 2021, which was mainly attributable by the decrease in
the business development expenses and public relations expenses
during the year ended 31 March 2021.
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Finance costs

The Group’s finance costs decreased from approximately
HK$95,000 for the corresponging period last year to approximately
HK$70,000 for the current year, which was represent by the
interest on lease liabilities being recognized pursuant to HKFRS 16.

Share of results of associates

The Group recorded share of loss from associates of approximately
HK$32,000 during the year ended 31 March 2021 (2020: share
of gain of HK$1,556,000), Such change mainly represented by (i)
the share of loss of Scenic Shipping Company Limited due to the
tax expense related to its disposal of vessels in prior years, being
partially set off by (i) the share of profit of Eastlink Marine Services
Limited.

Income tax expenses

For the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group’s income tax
expenses were approximately HK$5,332,000 (2020: approximately
HK$2,071,000), and the effective tax rate was approximately
15.1% (2020: approximately 15.6%).
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Profit and total comprehensive income for the year attributable to owners
of the Company

As a result of the foregoing, the Group’s profit for the year
attributable to owners of the Company increased by approximately
157.9%, from approximately HK$9,700,000 for the year ended 31
March 2020 to approximately HK$25,020,000 for the year ended
31 March 2021. Basic earnings per share attributable to owners of
the Company increased from approximately HK0.97 cent for the
year ended 31 March 2020 to approximately HK2.50 cents for the
year ended 31 March 2021.

Dividend

The Board has resolved to recommend the payment of a final
dividend of HK1.3 cent per ordinary share in respect of the year
ended 31 March 2021 (2020: 0.5 cent). The proposed final
dividend which totals HK$13,000,000 (2020: HK$5,000,000), if
approved at the forthcoming annual general meeting, will be paid
on 16 September 2021 to the shareholders on the register of
members as at 2 September 2021.
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Trade and other receivables

The Group’s trade and other receivables were increased by
approximately 41.2%, from approximately HK$53,007,000 as at
31 March 2020 to approximately HK$74,834,000 as at 31 March
2021.

The Group’s trade receivables turnover days increased from
approximately 86.8 days for the year ended 31 March 2020 to
approximately 96.7 days for the year ended 31 March 2021.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The Group had net current assets of approximately
HK$135,695,000 as at 31 March 2021 (2020: approximately
HK$140,721,000). The Group’s current ratio remained stable and
recorded a slight decrease from approximately 6.7 as at 31 March
2020 to approximately 5.6 as at 31 March 2021.

Gearing ratio is calculated based on the total debts divided by total
equity at the respective reporting date. As at 31 March 2021, the
Group’s gearing ratio was nil (2020: nil), as there were no debts as
at 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2020.

Following the Listing, the Group’s operations were mainly financed
by internal resources including but not limited to existing bank
balances and cash, cash flow from its operating activities and the
net proceeds generated from the Listing. The Board believes that
the Group's liquidity needs will be satisfied. With strengthened
liquidity position, the Group is able to expand in accordance with
its business strategy.

Details of the Company’s share capital are set out in note 25 to the
consolidated financial statements.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

The Group incurred capital expenditure of approximately
HK$10,985,000 during the year ended 31 March 2021 (2020:
approximately HK$23,980,000), mainly represented the addition of
vessels.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
As at 31 March 2021, the Group had no significant capital
commitments (2020: nil).

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS
The Group did not have any significant investment during the year
ended 31 March 2021.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS
The Group did not conduct any material acquisition and disposal of
subsidiaries during the year ended 31 March 2021.

On 15 August 2019, the Group entered into a share subscription
agreement with New Legend, pursuant to which, the Group has
agreed to subscribe the shares representing 51% equity interest
of New Legend to be allotted and issued by New Legend upon
the completion of the transaction at the subscription price of
HK$34,500,000.
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The transaction was completed on 29 August 2019. Since then,
New Legend becomes an indirect non wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Group.

Save as disclosed in the abovementioned acquisition of the
subsidiary, the Group did not conduct any material acquisition and
disposal of subsidiaries during the year ended 31 March 2020.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31 March 2021, the Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities (2020: nil).

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Directors are not aware of any significant event which had
material effect on the Group subsequent to 31 March 2021 and up
to the date of this report.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENGSHREEEREFE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wen Tsz Kit Bondy, aged 53, an executive Director, the
Chairman of the Board, the chief executive officer of the Company
and one of the Controlling Shareholders. He is the co-founder
of the Group. He is also a Director of various subsidiaries of the
Group. Mr. Wen is the spouse of Ms. Chan Sau Ling Amy and the
son of Mr. Chow Wai Ming’s cousin.

Mr. Wen has over 20 years of experience in the maritime services
industry in Hong Kong. Mr. Wen founded Yun Lee Tug Boat
Company Limited, being the subsidiary of the Group with the
longest operating history, with his father in November 1994 and
has been responsible for the overall management of the Group’s
operations and business development since then.

Mr. Wen has been a Committee member of The Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference Tenth Beihai Committee since
September 2016. He has been a member (Launch & Excursion
Vessels’ Operations) of The Local Vessels Advisory Committee of
the Marine Department since December 2016. He has been the
President of Hong Kong & Kowloon Motor Boats & Tug Boats
Association Limited since August 2017.

Ms. Chan Sau Ling Amy, aged 50, an executive Director. Ms.
Chan was appointed as a Director on 7 March 2018 and was re-
designated as an executive Director on 7 March 2018. She is also
a Director of various subsidiaries of the Group. Ms. Chan is the
spouse of Mr. Wen Tsz Kit Bondy.

Ms. Chan has over 20 years of experience in the maritime services
industry in Hong Kong. She obtained a national diploma in hotel,
catering and institutional operations issued by Tresham College in
the United Kingdom in June 1992. Ms. Chan joined the Group in
April 1995 and has been responsible for the overall management of
the Group’s finance and administrative matters since then.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Liu Hon Por Francis, aged 67, an independent non-
executive Director, the Chairman of the Nomination Committee
of the Company, a member of the Audit Committee and the
Remuneration Committee of the Company. He is primarily
responsible for providing independent judgment on the Group’s
strategy, performance, resources and standard of conduct.

Mr. Liu has over 27 years of experience in the marine industry in
Hong Kong. He obtained a Certificate for Navigating Officer Cadets
from the Hong Kong Polytechnic (currently known as the Hong
Kong Polytechnic University) in November 1974 and a Master of
Business Administration (M.B.A.) from the University of Ottawa in
Canada in May 1997. Mr. Liu joined the Marine Department as a
marine officer in April 1986. He was promoted to principal marine
officer in November 1996, to assistant director of marine in June
2004 and to deputy director of marine in February 2008.

Mr. Wu Tai Cheung, aged 63, an independent non-executive
Director, the Chairman of the Audit Committee of the Company,
a member of the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee of the Company. He is primarily responsible for
providing independent judgment on the Group’s strategy,
performance, resources and standard of conduct.
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Mr. Wu has over 36 years of experience in accounting and
corporate finance. He obtained a Bachelor of Arts in Accountancy
from Bolton Institute of Higher Education (currently known as
the University of Bolton) in the United Kingdom and a Master
of Business Administration from The University of Newcastle in
Australia. Mr. Wu is (i) a Fellow of The Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants; (i) a member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants; (i) an Associate of The Taxation
Institute of Hong Kong; (iv) an Associate of The Hong Kong Institute
of Chartered Secretaries; and (v) an Associate of The Chartered
Governance Institute. He was the independent non-executive
director of Bay Area Gold Group Limited (formerly known as
Munsun Capital Group Limited) (stock code: 1194) for the period
from October 2016 to March 2019, the shares of which are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He was appointed as
the independent non-executive director of Confidence Intelligence
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1967) on 20 September 2019,
the Shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange.

Mr. Fu Bradley, aged 36, an independent non-executive Director,
the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee of the Company, a
member of the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee of the
Company. He is primarily responsible for providing independent
judgment on the Group’s strategy, performance, resources and
standard of conduct.

Mr. Fu has over 14 years of experience in real estate private equity
and corporate finance. He obtained a Bachelor of Science from the
Leonard N. Stern School of Business at the New York University
in the United States in May 2006. Mr. Fu is currently the Head of
Acquisitions, Private Real Estate Equity — Asia Pacific at Heitman
International HK Limited, a corporation licensed to carry out Type
1 (dealing in securities), Type 4 (advising on securities) and Type
9 (asset management) of the regulated activities under the SFO.
Mr. Fu has been a member of the Urban Land Institute since June
2018.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Cheung Tai Kee, aged 67, a director of MKK Marine Services
Limited (“MKK Marine”). He joined the Group in August 2014 and
is primarily responsible for the overall management of the Group’s
ship management services.

Mr. Cheung has approximately 30 years of experience in the
marine industry. He obtained a Bachelor of Science in Maritime
Business from Polytechnic South West (now known as Plymouth
University), United Kingdom in July 1991. Prior to joining the Group,
Mr. Cheung was a licensed Senior Harbour Pilot of Hong Kong
Pilots Association Limited from November 1994 to July 2015.
He previously held the Certificate of Competency (Deck Officer)
Class 1 (Master Mariner) issued by the Government of the United
Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland in January 1987,
which was later replaced by the Certificate of Competency issued
under the Provisions of The International Convention on Standards
of Training, Certification and Watchkeeping for Seafarers 1978, as
amended in 1995, issued in August 2003. Mr. Cheung is currently
an authorised surveyor pursuant to section 7 of the Merchant
Shipping (Local Vessels) Ordinance for a period of three years from
October 2017.

Mr. Chow Wai Ming, aged 55, a senior manager of the Group and
a director of MKK Marine. He first joined the Group in November
1994 as a manager and was subsequently promoted to senior
manager in January 2009, is primarily responsible for the overall
management of the Group’s vessel chartering and related services.
Mr. Chow is the cousin of Mr. Wen Tsz Kit Bondy’s father.
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Mr. Chow has over 20 years of experience in the maritime services
industry. He has been examined by the Marine Department and
has been considered competent to take charge of a motor over
150 B.H.P. from March 1995. He also holds the Local Certificate
of Competency — Coxswain and Pleasure Vessel Operator
Certificate of Competency, both issued by the Marine Department,
in December 2013 and January 2014, respectively. Furthermore,
Mr. Chow holds (i) a Certificate of Training for Shipboard Crane
Operator Safety Training Course issued by Origin Production
Limited T/A The Hong Kong Safety Training Association in
December 2015, which indicates that Mr. Chow could operate
crane types one to five; (i) a Certificate of Training for Works
Supervisor Safety Training Course issued by Origin Production
Limited T/A The Hong Kong Safety Training Association in April
2016, which indicates that Mr. Chow could supervise shipboard
cargo handling work; and (i) a Certificate of Competent Person
and Certified Worker issued by Occupational Safety & Health
Management Institute in April 2016. Mr. Chow has also been the
Honorary President of The Institute of Port Facility Security Officers
(Hong Kong) since May 2016.

Mr. Mui Yuk Wah, aged 37, is the financial controller and
company secretary of the Company. He joined the Group in 2018
and is primarily responsible for the financial reporting and financial
control matters, and the company secretarial matters of the Group.

Mr. Mui has over 10 years of experience in auditing, accounting
and handling company secretarial matters. He obtained a Bachelor
of Social Science in Economics from The Chinese University
of Hong Kong in December 2007 and has been a Certified
Public Accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants since October 2012. He was a Director and Company
Secretary of Aurum Pacific (China) Group Limited, a company listed
on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8148) for the period from
February 2016 to March 2017 and February 2016 to August 2016
respectively. He was a Company Secretary of HongDa Financial
Holding Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 1822) for the period from May 2017 to November 2017.
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The Board hereby presents this corporate governance report in the
Group’s annual report for the year ended 31 March 2021.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board of the Company is committed to achieving high
corporate governance standards. The Board believes that good
corporate governance standards are essential in providing
a framework for the Company to safeguard the interests of
shareholders, enhance corporate value, formulate its business
strategies and policies, and enhance its transparency and
accountability. The Company has adopted the principles and code
provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG
Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”)
as the basis of the Company’s corporate governance practices

In preparation for the Listing, the Company engaged an
independent internal control adviser (the “IC Adviser”) to perform a
review of the procedure, system and control (including accounting
and management systems) of the Group. Based on its internal
control review, the IC Adviser recommended certain internal control
improvement measures to the Group and the Group has adopted
them. The Directors were of the view that the internal control
systems were adequate and sufficient in the circumstances.
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CODES COMPLIANCE

The Company has adopted the principles and code provisions of
the CG Code and has complied with the CG Code for the year
ended 31 March 2021, except in relation to provision A.2.1 of
the CG Code which requires that the roles of chairman and chief
executive officer should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual. Mr. Wen Tsz Kit Bondy, an executive
Director, is both the chairman of the Board and the chief executive
officer of the Company. With over 20 years of experience in the
maritime industry in Hong Kong, Mr. Wen has been responsible for
the overall management of the Group’s operations and business
development and has been instrumental to the Group’s growth and
business expansion since November 1994. The Board considers
that vesting the roles of chairman and chief executive officer in the
same person is beneficial to the management of the Group. The
balance of power and authority is ensured by the operation of the
senior management and the Board, which comprises experienced
and high-calibre individuals. The Board currently comprises two
executive Directors (including Mr. Wen) and three independent
non-executive Directors and therefore has a strong independence
element in its composition.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set
out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct
regarding securities transactions (the “Securities Dealing Code”)
by the Directors and employees who, because of his office or
employment in the Group, is likely to possess inside information of
the Company.

In response to specific enquires made by the Company, all
Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the required
standard set out in the Model Code and the Securities Dealing
Code for the year ended 31 March 2021.

For the year ended 31 March 2021, the Company is not aware of
any incident of non-compliance of the Securities Dealing Code by
the relevant employees
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions
and performance and should take decisions objectively in the best
interests of the Company.

The Board regularly reviews the contribution required from a
Director to perform his responsibilities to the Company, and
whether the Director is spending sufficient time performing them.

During the year ended 31 March 2021 and up to the date of this
annual report, the Board consists of five directors, comprising two
executive Directors and three independent non-executive Directors.
The composition of the Board is set out as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. Wen Tsz Kit Bondy (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Chan Sau Ling Amy

Independent Non-Executive Director
Mr. Liu Hon Por Francis

Mr. Wu Tai Cheung

Mr. Fu Bradley

The biographical information of the Directors are set out in the
section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” on pages 16 to 20 of this annual report.

The relationships between the Directors are also disclosed in the
respective Director’s biography under the section “Biographical
Details of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 16 to 20 of
this annual report.
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Attendance Records of Directors and Committee Members

Regular Board meetings should be held at least four times a
year involving active participation, either in person or through
electronic means of communication, of a majority of Directors. The
attendance record of each director at the Board meetings, Board
Committee meetings and general meeting held during the year
ended 31 March 2021 is set out in the table below:

EEZRZEEAENHELHF

EFSerHigdREsEL82TmA
ARBAZEERFLE - HBEBEFBA
FERBLHE - REEHENRBEZ
A=+ HLFERITZES
eEF EFESZEeERRRRRE

ZAREREN K ¢

|
Attendance/Number of Meetings

FRY/ &ERY

Nomination Audit Remuneration Annual general

Board Committee Committee Committee meeting

Name of Director EEps Exg REZEE ENZEE FHZEE RREFAE
Mr. Wen Tsz Kit Bondy BFELE 44 11 3/3 11 11
Ms. Chan Sau Ling Amy BEBRZL 4/4 1/1 3/3 11 11
Mr. Liu Hon Por Francis BERELE 4/4 1 3/3 11 11
Mr. Wu Tai Cheung AL E 4/4 11 3/3 11 11
Mr. Fu Bradley HEELE 4/4 1N 3/3 11 11

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Wen Tsz Kit Bondy, an executive Director, is both the chairman
of the Board and the chief executive officer of the Company.
With over 20 years of experience in the maritime industry in Hong
Kong, Mr. Wen has been responsible for the overall management
of the Group’s operations and business development and has
been instrumental to the Group’s growth and business expansion
since November 1994. The Board considers that vesting the roles
of chairman and chief executive officer in the same person is
beneficial to the management of the Group.

Independent Non-executive Directors

For the year ended 31 March 2021, the Board at all times met the
requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of
at least three independent non-executive Directors, representing
at least one-third of the Board with one of whom possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from
each of the independent non-executive Directors in respect of his
independence in accordance with the independence guidelines set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view
that all independent non-executive Directors are independent.
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Appointment and Re-election of Directors
The independent non-executive Directors of the Company are
appointed for a specific term of three years, subject to renewal after
the expiry of the then current term.

The Company’s articles of association (the “Articles of
Association”) provides that all Directors appointed by the Board to
fill a casual vacancy shall be subject to re-election by shareholders
at the first general meeting after appointment.

Under the Articles of Association, at each annual general meeting,
one-third of the Directors for the time being, or if their number is
not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not
less than one-third, shall retire from office by rotation provided that
every Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall
be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.
The retiring Directors shall be eligible for re-election.

Responsibilities of the Directors

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and control
of the Company, and is collectively responsible for directing and
supervising the Company’s affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads and
provides direction to management by laying down strategies and
overseeing their implementation, monitors the Group’s operational
and financial performance, and ensures that sound internal control
and risk management systems are in place.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors,
have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience,
knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and
effective functioning.

The independent non-executive Directors are responsible for
ensuring a high standard of regulatory reporting of the Company
and providing a balance in the Board for bringing effective
independent judgement on corporate actions and operations.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices
held by them.
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The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to
policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management, material transactions (in particular those that may
involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of
directors and other significant operational matters of the Company.
Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of the Board,
directing and coordinating the daily operation and management
of the Company are delegated to the management under the
supervision of Mr. Wen Tsz Kit Bondy, the Chairman.

Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and
changes in order to effectively perform their responsibilities and to
ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant.

Every newly appointed Director will receive formal, comprehensive
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment
to ensure appropriate understanding of the business and
operations of the Company and full awareness of Director’s
responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant
statutory requirements.

Directors are encouraged to participate in appropriate continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. Internally-facilitated briefings for Directors will be
arranged and reading material on relevant topics will be provided to
Directors where appropriate.

For the year ended 31 March 2021, all Directors have been given
the training regarding the duties and responsibilities of being
a Director, the relevant laws and regulations applicable to the
Directors and duty of disclosure of interest.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee on 20 September 2018, for overseeing particular
aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board committees of the
Company are established with specific written terms of reference
which deal clearly with their authority and duties. The terms of
reference of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee are posted on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange and are available to shareholders upon
request.

The majority of the members of each Board committee are
independent non-executive Directors and the list of the chairman
and members of each Board committee is set out under the
section headed “Corporate Information” on page 2 of this annual
report.

Audit Committee

The main duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the Board
in reviewing the Company’s financial information, overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting system, risk management and internal
control systems, reviewing and monitoring the effectiveness of the
internal audit function, scope of audit and making recommendation
to the Board on the appointment of external auditor, and reviewing
the arrangements for employees of the Company can use to raise
concerns about possible improprieties in financial reporting, internal
control or other matters of the Company.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Audit Committee held
three meetings to discuss the audit planning with the auditors
and to review the annual financial results and reports for the year
ended 31 March 2020, the interim financial results and reports for
the period ended 30 September 2020 and significant issues on
the financial reporting, operational and compliance controls, the
effectiveness of the risk management, appointment of external
auditors and relevant scope of works.
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Remuneration Committee

The primary functions of the Remuneration Committee include
reviewing and making recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual Executive Directors and senior
management, the remuneration policy and structure for all Directors
and senior management; and establishing transparent procedures
for developing such remuneration policy and structure to ensure
that no Director or any of his/her associates (as defined in the
Listing Rules) is involved in deciding his/her own remuneration.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Remuneration
Committee held one meeting to review and made recommendation
on policy and structure for Directors’ and senior management’s
remuneration; to review and approve the management’s
remuneration proposals with reference to the corporate goals
and objectives of the Board; and to review and determine on the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management.

Nomination Committee

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing
the Board composition, making recommendations to the Board
on the selection of individuals nominated for directorship, making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-
appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors,
and assessing the independence of Independent Non-executive
Directors.

The Company also recognises and embraces the benefits of
having a diverse Board to enhance the quality of its performance.
The Board has adopted a “Board Diversity Policy” (the “Policy”)
which sets out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board
and the Nomination Committee is responsible for monitoring the
implementation of the Policy. In assessing the Board composition,
the Nomination Committee would take into account various
aspects as well as factors concerning Board diversity as set out
in the Policy, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, or professional experience etc. The
Nomination Committee will discuss any revisions which may be
required, and recommend any such revisions to the Board for
consideration and approval.
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During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Nomination Committee
held one meeting to review the structure, size and composition
(including the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board and
the Policy, and made recommendations on any proposed changes
to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy; to
assess the independence of independent non-executive Directors;
and to review and make recommendation to the Board on re-
election of retiring Directors.

Corporate Governance Functions
The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the
code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code.

The Board had reviewed the Company’s corporate governance
policies and practices, training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management, the Company’s
policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements, the compliance of the Model Code and the Securities
Dealing Code, and the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in this corporate governance report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the remuneration paid/
payable in respect of the services provided by the Group’s external
auditor, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, are set out below:
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Type of services PRisEaE SETET
Annual audit services FEEIZRES 1,200
Non-audit services IEEZ RS 200
Total Bzt 1,400
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Group does not have an internal audit function due to the
size of the Group and for cost effectiveness consideration. The
Board has the direct responsibility to maintain effective risk
management and internal control systems in order to safeguard
the Group’s assets and investments and the shareholders’ interest
and conducts a review on an annual basis. The Group continues
to review the need for an internal audit function annually. During
the year under review, the Board had conducted review of the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems
of the Company in aspects of the Group’s financial, operational,
compliance controls and risk management functions through the
effort of the Audit Committee.

MAIN FEATURES OF THE RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
SYSTEMS

The Group’s risk governance structure and the main responsibilities
of each level of the structure are summarised below:

The Board is responsible to determine the business strategies and
objectives of the Group, and evaluate and determine the nature and
extent of risks it is willing to take in achieving the Group’s strategic
objectives; ensures that the Group establishes and maintains
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control
systems; and oversees management in the design, implementation
and monitoring of the risk management and internal control
systems.
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The Audit Committee is responsible for assisting the Board to
perform its responsibilities of risk management and internal control
systems; overseeing the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems on an ongoing basis; reviewing the effectiveness
of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems at
least annually, and such review should cover all material controls
including financial, operational and compliance control; ensures the
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting, internal audit
and financial reporting functions; and considers major findings on
risk management and internal control matters, and reports and
makes recommendations to the Board.

Senior management of the Group designs, implements and
maintains appropriate and effective risk management and internal
control systems; identifies, evaluates and manages the risk that
may potentially impact the major processes of the operations;
monitors risk and takes measures to mitigate risk in day-to-day
operations and provides confirmation to the Board and the Audit
Committee on the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems.
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RISK MANAGEMENT PROCESS

In addition to the Board’s oversight responsibilities, the Company
has developed a risk management process to identify, evaluate
and manage significant risks and to resolve material internal control
defects. Senior management of the Group is responsible for the
annual risk reporting process. Independent external consultant
meets with various members of the senior management to review
and assess risks and discuss solutions to address material internal
control defects, including any changes relevant to a given year.
Risks are compiled, ratings are assigned and mitigation plans are
documented. The risk assessment is reviewed by certain members
of the senior management and presented to the Audit Committee
and the Board for their review.

Risks are evaluated by the Board and the Group’s senior
management based on (i) the severity of the impact of the risk on
the Company’s financial results; and (i) the probability that the risk
will occur.

Based on the risk evaluation, the Company will manage the risks as
follows:

- Risk elimination — the Group’s senior management may
identify and implement certain changes or controls that in
effect eliminate the risk entirely.

- Risk mitigation — the Group’s senior management may
implement a risk mitigation plan designed to reduce the
likelihood, velocity or severity of the risk to an acceptable
level.

- Risk retention — the Group’s senior management may decide
that the risk rating is low enough that the risk is acceptable for
the Company and that no action is required. The risk would
continue to be monitored as part of the risk management
program to ensure the level of risk does not increase to an
unacceptable level.
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INSIDE INFORMATION DISCLOSURE POLICY

The Company adopted an inside information disclosure policy
(the “Inside Information Disclosure Policy”) which sets out the
procedures for the handling and dissemination of inside information
with a view to preventing uneven, inadvertent or selective
dissemination of inside information and ensuring shareholders and
the public are provided with full, accurate and timely information
about the activities and the financial condition of the Group. The
Inside Information Disclosure Policy covers the following:

* setting out the processes for identifying, assessing and
escalating potential inside information to the Board;

* setting out the responsibilities of officers in preserving the
confidentiality of inside information, escalating upwards any
such potential information and cascading down the message
and responsibilities to relevant staff; and

e identifying who are the Company’s authorised spokespersons
and their responsibilities for communications with
stakeholders of the Company.

In addition, the Company has communicated to all relevant staff
regarding the implementation of the Inside Information Disclosure
Policy.

The Board considers that the Company’s existing measures are
effective and appropriate compliance mechanisms to safeguard the
Company and its officers in discharging their disclosure obligations
in respect of inside information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year
ended 31 March 2021.

The statements of the independent auditor of the Company
about their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements are set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on
pages 77 to 83 of this annual report.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company is Mr. Mui Yuk Wah, who
fulfils the qualification requirements laid down in the Listing Rules.
Biographical details of Mr. Mui are set out in the section headed
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” of this
annual report. During the year ended 31 March 2021, Mr. Mui has
taken not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, separate
resolutions should be proposed for each substantially separate
issue at general meetings, including the election of individual
Directors. All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be
voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results
will be posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange after each general meeting.

Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting

Pursuant to article 64 of the Articles of Association, an extraordinary
general meeting shall also be convened on the requisition of one or
more shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition,
not less than one tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
having the right of voting at general meetings. Such requisition shall
be made in writing to the Board or the company secretary for the
purpose of requiring an extraordinary general meeting to be called
by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition. Such meeting shall be held within two calendar months
after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such
deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the
requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner,
and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as
a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

There are no provisions in the Articles of Association or the Cayman
Islands Companies Law for shareholders of the Company to move
new resolutions at general meetings. Shareholders of the Company
who wish to move a resolution may request the Company to
convene a general meeting in accordance with the procedures set
out in the preceding paragraph. As regards proposing a person
for election as a director of the Company, please refer to the
“Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a Person for Election as
a Director” of the Company which is posted on the Company’s
website.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board of the Company,
shareholders of the Company may send written enquiries to the
Company. The Company will not normally deal with verbal or
anonymous enquiries.

Contact Details
Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned
above to the following:

Address:  Flat D, 31/F., Billion Plaza Il,

10 Cheung Yue Street,

Cheung Sha Wan, Kowloon, Hong Kong
Email: info@yunlee.com.hk

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s) must deposit and send
the original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or
enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address and provide
their full name, contact details and identification in order to give
effect thereto. Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as
required by law.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS

The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investor understanding of the Group’s business performance
and strategies. The Company endeavours to maintain an on-
going dialogue with shareholders and in particular, through annual
general meetings and other general meetings. At the annual general
meeting, Directors (or their delegates as appropriate) are available
to meet shareholders and answer their enquiries.

The Company maintains a website at www.yunlee.com.hk as
a communication platform with the shareholders and investors,
where the financial information and other relevant information of the
Company are available for public access.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Company has adopted the amended and restated
Memorandum and Articles of Association pursuant to a special
resolution passed by the sole shareholder on 20 September
2018. Since then, the Company has not made any changes to its
Memorandum and Articles of Association. An up to date version of
the Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association is also
available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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SCOPE AND REPORTING PERIOD

This is the third Environmental, Social and Governance (‘ESG”)
report of Yun Lee Marine Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”,
and together with its subsidiaries referred as the “Group”),
highlighting its ESG performance, with disclosure reference made
to the ESG Reporting Guide as described in Appendix 27 of the
Main Board Listing Rules and Guidance set out by The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

The Group is a maritime services provider in Hong Kong with an
operating history of over twenty years. This ESG report covers
the Group’s overall performance in two subject areas, namely,
Environmental and Social aspects of the business operations in
Hong Kong from 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020 (the “Reporting
Period”), unless otherwise stated. The business operations include
provisions of the following services:

» vessel chartering and related services, including:

- the provision of vessels, crew members, maritime
consultation services, vessel repair and maintenance
services; and

» ship management services, including:

- the daily operations, as well as repair and maintenance
services for third-party owned vessels.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT
Stakeholder Engagement

The Group engages with stakeholders on an on-going basis to
better understand their expectations and views on ESG’s issues.
Investors, shareholders and employees have been involved in
regular meetings and engagement sessions to discuss and to
review areas of attention, which ultimately helps the business to
meet its potential growth and be prepared for future challenges.
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Materiality Assessment

ERMFE

In preparing this ESG report, the Group specifically engaged with ~ R#REARERE - @ LEGHRER - 1
key stakeholders, namely the Board of Directors (the “Board”), REZHTFEREN—HD  AEERF
senior management, frontline staff, customers and suppliers, as Al EFF ERFHE BEFG((EF
part of the materiality assessment process to identify and prioritise & 1)  m R ERBE - AIKET P
ESG material issues that are crucial for the Group’s sustainable R ERE AR R ELEERREHR
development during the Reporting Period. Results of the materiality ~ ¥ ASEAHEZREM S ZHEZNIR
assessment and the consolidated list of ESG material aspects are %~ & R EGEAME - E2ETE

presented in the following matrix and table, respectively.
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Environmental

A1 Energy B3 Development and Training

A2 Water B4 Labour Standards

A3 Air Emission B5 Supply Chain

Management

A4 Waste and Effluent B6 Intellectual Property Rights

A5  Other Raw Materials B7 Data Protection
Consumption

A6 Environmental Protection B8 Customer Service
Policies

Social B9 Product/Service Quality

B1 Employment
B2 Occupational Health and

Safety
|

B10 Anti-corruption
B11 Community Investment

Among the environmental and social aspects, the following topics
are identified as the most important issues by stakeholders:

Customer Data Protection;
Customer Service;
Product Quality;
Development and Training;
Employment; and

Labour standard

@ o kD=

The Group aims to keep close communication with its stakeholders
and continue improving its ESG performance and management on
ESG-related risks for future business development.

STAKEHOLDERS’ FEEDBACK

The Group welcomes stakeholders’ feedback on its ESG approach
and performance. Please give your suggestions or share your views
with us via email at info@yunlee.com.hk.
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THE GROUP’S ESG COMMITMENT

The Board is fully responsible for the Group’s ESG strategy and
reporting. It closely monitors the daily operations of the Group
through regular meetings and discussions with the management of
different business units so as to keep track of the Group’s business
and ESG performance. The Group constantly reviews and updates
its policies, and advances its ESG approaches to comply with the
latest industry regulations and ESG requirements imposed by the
government.

The Group believes that a comprehensive ESG management
approach can help minimise business, environmental, and social
risks, as well as enhancing the values of the Group, thereby leading
to the long-term sustainability of the business. Therefore, the Group
integrates sustainability considerations into its decision-making
processes for its on-going business operations.

The Group maintains close attachment to the industry bodies and
has taken a role in relevant trade associations. As the member of
Hong Kong and Kowloon Motor Boats and Tug Boats Association,
the Group fosters knowledge sharing, establishes close ties, and
facilitates collaborations with other industry bodies. By participating
in this association, the Group keeps abreast of the latest
developments in environmental and safety regulations and obtains
practical advice and assistance from the association on accident
insurance. The Group’s executive directors closely monitor the
daily operations of the Group and participate in meetings with the
management of each business unit to keep track with the Group’s
business performance and the ESG matters.

Moreover, the Group is dedicated to the provision of promising
and high-quality products and services to its customers. To ensure
the safety and seaworthiness of vessels, the Group has appointed
chartered surveyors to carry out annual inspections of the Group’s
vessel fleet, and properly maintains its operating licenses. All crew
members are required to adhere to the requirements stipulated
in the Code of Safe Working Practice, ensuring the Group’s
compliance with applicable laws and regulations.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL

The Group is continually committed to operating its business in
an environmental-friendly manner. It strives to provide favourable
returns for its shareholders while practicing environmental
sustainability in its operations. Therefore, the Group ensures
to abide by all relevant local laws and regulations in relation to
environmental protection and pollution control, as enforced by the
Marine Department and Environmental Protection Department of
Hong Kong, including:

- Merchant Shipping (Local Vessels) Ordinance, Chapter 548 of
Law of Hong Kong;

- Shipping and Port Control Ordinance, Chapter 313 of Law of
Hong Kong;

- Merchant Shipping (Prevention and Control of Pollution)
Ordinance, Chapter 413 of Law of Hong Kong;

- Merchant Shipping (Prevention of QOil Pollution) Regulations,
subsidiary legislation under Chapter 413 of Law of Hong
Kong;

- Merchant Shipping (Control of Pollution by Noxious Liquid
Substances in Bulk) Regulations, subsidiary legislation under
Chapter 413 of Law of Hong Kong;

- Merchant Shipping (Prevention of Air Pollution) Regulation,
Chapter 413P of Law of Hong Kong;

- Air Pollution Control Ordinance, Chapter 311 of Law of Hong
Kong;
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- Air Pollution Control (Fuel for Vessels) Regulation, Chapter
311AB of Law of Hong Kong;

- Air Pollution Control (Marine Light Diesel) Regulation, Chapter
311Y of Law of Hong Kong;

- Dumping at Sea Ordinance, Chapter 466 of Law of Hong
Kong; and

—  Water Pollution Control Ordinance, Chapter 358 of Law of
Hong Kong.

During the reporting period, there were no instances of non-
compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have inflicted
a significant impact on the Group in the aspects of: air and
greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emissions, discharges into water and
land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

A1. Emissions

AT1T Air Emissions

The Group’s fossil-fuelled vessels and vehicles were used for daily
business operations and for commuting during the Reporting
Period, which contributed to the emission of nitrogen oxides (‘NOx”),
respiratory suspended particles (‘RSP”) and sulphur oxides (“SOx”).
The numbers of each type of emissions are displayed in the table
below.

— BEZEHIEIIABE(E=RTLRE
H (RS FARL) AR 51D

— BEEMEINYEERTREH
(M REE LM ) BB -

— BB 466 B0E LIEE MR
Bl R

—  BRBIANIFE 358 BKIT R E Hl
{51y e

R|EMAR - EATNTET : BER &R
ERE(BRERE DR MKk
BHeREEBEREZTERY  HEDL
BUAREBERERZENTETHEA
ERFOEREBER ©

M. HERX

ALl BERHE

REEERN - AEEA(EA KRB/ R
BEHARAFEREERABY B
RARECM(TEELW]) - ATRALF
WA((ARABZERT ) KFAy

BYHE -

Mobile fuel source

Air emissions' (non-GHG)
from the vehicle operations

EREENERFR GERERE)

NOX (kg) SOx (kg) RSP (kg)
s mELY Ry TRABIRT
ARERRRE (AF) (AF) (AF)
Petrol babi:: 1.58 0.04 0.20

1 The air emissions from vessels were not reported since the information on vessel activity was not readily accessible.
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A1.2 Greenhouse Gas Emissions

GHG emissions were generated directly from the consumption of
fuels (i.e. petrol and diesel for group-owned vehicles and vessels).
Additionally, Indirect GHG emissions were generated from the
consumption of purchased electricity and wastepaper disposal. No
business air travels were conducted due to the travel restrictions
which arose from the COVID-19 pandemic.

During the Reporting Period, the Group business operation
contributed to an emission of 102.28 tonnes of carbon dioxide
equivalent (“tCOz2eq.”), mainly carbon dioxide, methane and
nitrous oxide. The overall intensity of the GHG emissions was 0.30
tCO2eq./m? with reference to the total floor area of the Group’s
offices, or 0.49 tCO2eq./employee with reference to the Group’s
full-time employees. Due to the business nature, the Group
consumed a significant amount of light diesel oil for the operation of
vessels, representing 72% of the overall GHG emission.
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GHG Total
Emission GHG Emission
Scope of Greenhouse Gas Emissions Emission Sources (tCO2eq.) (%)
BERE
BmE BWREREE
(WE = S {b ik B E
BER MR BERRIR EE (Bg k)
Scope 1 Direct Emissions
HE1HEEHER
Combustion of fuel for mobile sources Marine light diesel 73.81 80%
T B R BRI R firs FR B S
Petrol 7.35
i
Scope 2 Indirect Emissions
EE 2 B HEK
Purchased electricity 18.72 18%
EBEE
Scope 3 Other Indirect Emissions
HilE 3 H th BBk
Paper waste disposal 2.40 2%
EEEA
Total 102.28 100%
we
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Note 1:  Emission factors were made reference to Appendix 27 of the Main Board
Listing Rules and their referred documentation as set out by Hong Kong
Exchanges and Clearing Limited, unless stated otherwise.

Note 2:  Emission factor for marine light diesel was based on the Emission Factors

from Cross-Sector Tools March 2017 of Greenhouse Gas Protocol.

A1.83 Hazardous Waste

The business operations of the Group did not involve in the
generation of any significant hazardous waste. Hence, no such
information is presented in this report.

A1.4 Non-hazardous Waste

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s office operation
generated a total of 0.50 tonne of non-hazardous waste,
contributing to an overall intensity of 0.0015 tonne/m?, or 0.0024
tonne/employee. This waste composed mainly of office papers,
which were eventually disposed of at landfills.

A15 Measures to Mitigate Emissions

Navigation Sources

To control emissions from its vessels, the Group adopts ultra-low
sulphur diesel (i.e. sulphur content not exceeding 0.05%) for its
vessel fleet, as required pursuant to the Air Pollution Control (Marine
Light Diesel) Regulation (Chapter 311Y of Law of Hong Kong).
When compared to conventional fuels, the use of cleaner fuels
reduces SOx and PM emissions by 90% and 30%, respectively.

The Group has also instilled controlling measures on the emission
of dark smoke from vessels. Vessels are operated by experienced
personnel and professionally maintained. The Group’s vessel fleet
is inspected by chartered surveyors to ensure proper operation of
engines. The Ringelmann Chart is used to measure dark smoke
emissions from vessels, ensuring that no excessive dark smoke
(i.e. dark smoke which is as dark as or darker than shade 2 on the
Ringelmann Chart for 3 minutes or more continuously at any one
time) is emitted from vessels in the waters of Hong Kong.

et BSEHEFI  HMEEGRETRET
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Biat2 - BHAGFEEELEH 6 FE I R BT B E R

£ 1z B f# X (Greenhouse Gas Protocol)
HERFTAHMRE(—F—+F=
A JEmission Factors from Cross-Sector
Tools March 2017) °
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Road Transportation Sources

The Group measures and analyses its fuel consumption patterns
and encourages the use of public transportation with an aim of
raising employees’ consciousness of environmental protection.
Proper vehicle maintenance is also conducted to reduce smoke
emissions, thus mitigating potential impacts to the surrounding
environment.

A1.6 Wastes Handling and Reduction Initiatives
Used lubricating oils are regarded as hazardous waste due to its
hazardous properties. Hence, these items are typically sent to
eligible waste handlers for disposal. Alternatively, the Group has
developed a general practice of transferring the waste oils to its
business partners for beneficial reusage.

The Group continues to advocate for the reduction of waste at the
source and promotes greater reuse of otherwise wasted materials
during its business operations. Wastepaper was the major
non-hazardous waste generated during the Reporting Period.
Consequently, wastepaper is collected at designated point, and
single-sided printouts are reused for notes and as scrap paper.
The Group continues to seek for paperless office solutions, such as
encouraging paperless meetings and electronic documentation to
further minimise paper consumption.

A2. Use of Resources

Although the Group has not established any standard policies on
the effective use of resources, it has encouraged its employees to
follow resource conservation practices at offices and its business
operations.
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A2.1 Energy Consumption

The Group’s business operations resulted in a total of 419,515
kWh of energy consumption from the use of electricity, marine light
diesel and petrol, with an overall intensity of 1,220.44 kWh/m? or
2,016.90 kWh/employee.

A1 BEIRIEFEE
REBEBLEEFAT L MAHAE
SRR ARMMBEMBREREREZE R
419,515 T R i BEEE /1,220.44
TRE,FHX5%2,016.90 TR, 8
Io

Consumption

Consumption Intensity

Direct/Indirect Consumption Consumption Intensity (kWh/
Energy Consumption Sources (Unit) (kWh) (kWh/m?) employee)
HEEEE HEEEE

HER HIER (TRE (TRE

HiEBERREERR B{) (TFEBE) FFHK) ET)
Electricity B 50,606 kWh T ELAF 50,606 147.22 243.30
Marine Light Diesel M F 824 )i 34,100 Litres F+ 343,725 999.95 1,735.99
Petrol i 2,763 Litres Ff 25,184 73.26 121.08

A2.2 Water Consumption and Efficiency Initiatives

Water supply and discharge of the Group were managed by the
building’s management office. Therefore, the costs of usage were
included in the management fees. It is thus concluded that the
Group did not consume significant amount of water through its
business activities and the water consumption was considered
minimal during the Reporting Period.

The Group continuously conserves water as a resource even if
the water usage of its operations is minimal or insignificant. During
the Reporting Period, the Group did not encounter any issues in
sourcing water fit for purpose in its daily operations.

A2.3 Energy Use Efficiency Initiatives

The Group promotes and supports green and sustainable
procurement in its office operations. When selecting office
equipment, priority is always given to energy-efficient equipment.
Air conditioning is maintained at an optimal temperature during
summer and winter for energy-saving purposes.

A2.4 Packaging Materials
No packaging materials were used for the business operations of
the Group. Hence, no such information is presented in this report.
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A3. The Environment and Natural Resources

A3.1 Significant Impacts of Activities on the Environment

The Group is committed to alleviating the environmental impacts
associated with vessel chartering and maritime transportation
services. It has established management policies in line with
the emission control strategy set out by the government to
ensure proper environmental protection and compliance with
environmental laws and regulations during its vessel operations.

A series of measures have been implemented in order to reduce
air pollution and improve the conditions of the marine environment.
The Group strictly enforces the use of low-sulphur compliant fuel for
its vessel fleet in an effort to lower harmful exhaust emissions. The
standardised operating procedures and routine vessel maintenance
not only prevent excessive dark smoke emissions from vessels, but
also facilitate safe and efficient vessel operation, such that the life
span of vessels could be extended, and the vessel performance
could be optimised. Regular training sessions are conducted for
crew members to ensure that they are conscious and proactive
towards environmental protection.

Specifically, the Group has established in-house rules on the
disposal of waste oil, chemicals, galley waste and garbage. Crew
members are required to oversee and comply with relevant laws
and regulations in respect of the prevention and control of pollution
of the waters of Hong Kong, such as the Merchant Shipping
(Local Vessels) Ordinance (Chapter 548 of Law of Hong Kong)
and Shipping and Port Control Ordinance (Chapter 313 of Law
of Hong Kong). The regulatory requirements set forth in the Crew
Handbook regulates the behaviours of crew members and prevents
environmental damages (e.g., excessive dark smoke emissions,
discharge of oil into the waters).
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A4. Climate Change

A4.1 Significant Climate Change Concerns

The Group has identified typhoons as a concern that impacts
the business due to climate change. On a broad perspective, the
financial performance of the Group remains neutral as typhoons are
temporary. The vessel chartering operations may be affected by the
typhoon, but special chartering services offered by the Group and
demanded by customers, such as towage services to any vessels/
equipment at sea or near the coast, are billed at a higher rate.

Safety also remains a priority of the Group and is enforced with
special measures during the typhoon. Since crew members are
exposed to greater risk during times of a typhoon, the company
has communicated to its customers that their policy states that
services will be postponed if the weather is considered a safety
hazard for the Group’s staff. An example of this includes a No. 8
typhoon signal, in which the Group will suspend towage services
and resume them only when weather conditions are less risky.

The Group also is aware of the causes of climate change, and
strives to put its best efforts into mitigating emissions and practicing
business sustainability to slow down the phenomenon.
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B. SOCIAL

1. EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES

B1. Employment

The Group had a total number of 208 employees as of 31 March
2021. All were full-time employees from Hong Kong. The total
workforce sorted by gender, age group and employee categories,

are shown below.

DISTRIBUTION OF EMPLOYEES BY EMPLOYMENT TYPE
REBERES 2RSS M

2% 3%

@ Senior Management
BREEE

@ Middle Management
PR EIEE

@ Frontline and Other Staff
AR HEMET
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The Group strictly complies with all applicable laws and regulations
in relation to employment and labour rights, including but not
limited to the following:

e  Employment Ordinance, Chapter 57 of Law of Hong Kong;

e Employment of Children Regulations, Chapter 57B of Law of
Hong Kong;

e  Sex Discrimination Ordinance, Chapter 480 of Law of Hong
Kong;

e Disability Discrimination Ordinance, Chapter 487 of Law of
Hong Kong;

e  Family Status Discrimination Ordinance, Chapter 527 of Law
of Hong Kong;

e Race Discrimination Ordinance, Chapter 602 of Law of Hong
Kong;

e Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance, Chapter 486 of Law of
Hong Kong; and

e  Minimum Wage Ordinance, Chapter 608 of Law of Hong
Kong.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not note any cases of
material non-compliance with employment laws and regulations in
relation to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunities, diversity and anti-
discrimination.

The Group conveys its standards and expectations to all employees
(including office staff and crew members) through its Code of
Conduct and other relevant policies stipulated in the Employee
Handbook. The Employee Handbook is accessible to all employees,
which provides details on employment (e.g., recruitment, probation,
transfer, promotion, termination and retirement), work schedule
(e.g., hours of work, rest days, statutory holidays and early release),
remuneration, leaves, employee benefits, training, and other labour-
related policies.
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Competitive Compensation and Benefits Package

The Group treasures talents and regards them as the key of
driving the success for the Group. It recruits employees based
on candidates’ capabilities, performance and relevancies of their
experiences. On top of statutory holidays, employees are entitled
to annual leave, sick leave, compensation leave, maternity leave
and paternity leave according to the Employment Ordinance and
the Employee Handbook. The Group also provides mandatory
provident fund, group insurance scheme and business travel
allowances for its employees.

Employee Relations

The Group maintains two-way communication with employees
through regular networking activities and feedback sessions.
Employees could raise concerns about possible malpractice or
improprieties directly to the Human Resources department. During
the Reporting Period, the Group organised annual dinner for all
employees and regular dinner gatherings to strengthen the bonds
between the management and office colleagues.

Equal Opportunity

The Group envisions a work environment free from discrimination.
As an equal opportunity employer, the Group emphasises a fair,
open, objective and non-discriminatory selection process in its
employee recruitment, job advancement, transferral, termination,
compensation and other business operation activities. Employees
are not discriminated against or deprived of such opportunities
on the basis of gender, age, ethnic, background, religion, colour,
marital status, family status, retirement, disability, pregnancy or
any other discrimination prohibited by the applicable laws and
regulations.

Appraisal System

A systematic appraisal system is developed to evaluate
employees’ work performance and capabilities. The Group reviews
employees’ salaries and discretionary bonus together with their
work performance, labour supply and market demand. The
annual performance appraisal provides an opportunity for all staff
members to discuss career planning and identify areas of further
development with their managers.
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Turnover THKE

The Group believes continual improvement on employment ~ AKEIEE HENSEEFEHER
system is essential for the long-term business growth. A total of ~EXBEREWEE - RBSHAKEA
34 employees left the Group during the Reporting Period. The  34% B TR AEE - BB REAER
overall turnover rate was 16%, a reduction of 15 percentage points ~ 16% * ¥ &t — &R & HE D15 H & o
compared with the last Reporting Period. 2o

The Group conducts exit interviews with resigned individuals to ~ A E R g EERIE S ETREB E
understand the reasons behind employee turnover, enabling the ~— # ' A TR B TREBORE @ AEH
Group to address the concerns of existing employees to reduce  RESERIRE B TEHEE - AFERK
turnover rate in the future and maintain continuity of performance of ~ EVBEE R WIRIF AR B R E R EE T -
the Group.
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B2. Employee Health and Safety

The safety and well-being of employees is the core concern of the
Group. As such, the Group complies with all applicable laws and
regulations in relation to occupational health and safety (“OH&S”) in
Hong Kong, including but not limited to the followings:

In relation to safety survey of local vessels

e  Merchant Shipping (Local Vessels) Ordinance, Chapter 548 of
Law of Hong Kong;

e Merchant Shipping (Local Vessels) (Certification and
Licensing) Regulation, subsidiary legislation under Chapter
548 of Law of Hong Kong; and

*  Merchant Shipping (Local Vessels) (Safety and Survey)
Regulation, subsidiary legislation under Chapter 548 of Law
of Hong Kong.

In relation to OH&S operation

e  Factories and Industrial Undertakings Ordinance, Chapter 59
of Law of Hong Kong;

e  QOccupational Safety and Health Ordinance, Chapter 509 of
Law of Hong Kong;

e  Shipping and Port Control (Works) Regulation, Chapter 313X
of Law of Hong Kong;

* Merchant Shipping (Local Vessels) (Works) Regulation,
Chapter 548l of Law of Hong Kong;

e Merchant Shipping (Local Vessels) (Compulsory Third Parties
Risks Insurance) Regulation, subsidiary legislation under
Chapter 548| of Law of Hong Kong;

e  Merchant Shipping (Safety) (Signals of Distress and Prevention
of Collisions) Regulations, subsidiary legislation under Chapter
369 of Law of Hong Kong;
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e Merchant Shipping (Safety) (Load Line) Regulations, subsidiary
legislation under Chapter 369 of Law of Hong Kong;

e Employees’ Compensation Ordinance, Chapter 282 of Law of
Hong Kong; and

e Dangerous Goods Ordinance, Chapter 295 of Law of Hong
Kong.

No non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the Group in relation to providing a safe
working environment and protecting employees from occupational
hazards had been identified during the Reporting Period.

In office spaces, the Group ensures to conduct quarterly cleaning
of air conditioning systems and carpets. Also, purifiers are installed
and maintained regularly to ensure a clean and healthy environment
for all employees. In consideration of the COVID-19 (Coronavirus
Disease), all employees and visitors are to have their temperatures
taken and recorded upon entry of the workspaces. In addition, all
unnecessary in-person gatherings or meetings were cancelled,
and any staff who suffered from fever or other symptoms are
required to stay at home to work. As an extra precaution, if any
of the employee’s members of close contact were required to be
quarantined, the employee is also prohibited from visiting the office
or worksite until their quarantine period is over.

The Group has formulated internal policies and procedures
for improving health and safety on vessels and mitigating
occupational risks. Specifically, the Group has established a
Code of Safe Working Practices for its crew members (including
officers and engineers) and set out work safety rules in the
Employee Handbook. The Code outlines essential health and
safety information and an organisation chart showing positions
of crew members of different levels with their responsibilities and
authorities in safety management on board of each vessel. It
provides guidance on safe working practices for many situations
that commonly arise on ships, and detailed procedures covering
various aspects, including equipment safety, vessel maintenance,
safe operating procedures, emergency response and contingency
plans. In addition, the Group ensures that annual surveying of
vessel conditions are conducted to ensure that the condition is safe
for crew members.
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Major measures set out in the Code of Safe Working Practices are
as follows:

u the Group requires its crew members to comply with the
Group’s safety instructions on vessel operation including the
procedures of vessel berthing and unberthing, and wearing
the necessary safety suit and protective equipment on board;

u the Group has established in-house emergency procedures
and fire precautions, such as evacuation procedures, location
of life-saving equipment and fire extinguishers in each of the
vessel and their operating instructions;

u the Group conducts regular safety training for its crew
members including fire safety drill training, sea safety drill
training and sea rescue simulator training to enhance the
safety awareness on board; and

= Crew members are strictly forbidden against alcohol, tobacco,
drugs, gambling and other high-risk activities while on duty
and upon boarding of vessels.

Regular safety surveys and inspections are conducted for the
Group’s vessel fleet to ensure the safety and seaworthiness of
vessels. The Group also provides regular OH&S-related training
to crew members and assesses the understanding of trained staff
based on the training content.

Air purifiers are installed at offices for effective removal of particulate
matters and improvement of indoor air quality. Air conditioning
systems and carpeting are properly maintained and cleaned on a
quarterly basis to ensure a safe and healthy work environment for
its employees.

Work-related Fatality and Injury

During the Reporting Period, there were no work-related fatalities.
There was one work-related injury with a total of 20 lost days
recorded. The concerned employees were provided with immediate
medical attention.
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OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY DATA DURING THE REPORTING PERIOD

HEMABEREHEZZHIE

Work related fatality TIT-HR 0
Work injury cases >3 days FEREZR=HHNIE 1
Work injury cases <3 days EREBELRFIEZER=ZAMNISE 0
Lost days due to work injury ETEmERNIIER 20

B3. Development and Training

The Group attaches great importance to employee development
and training. It believes that training does not only equip employees
with necessary knowledge and skills, but also improves employee
perception, attitude and learning skills. During the Reporting Period,
the total training hours and the average training hours per employee
were 420 hours and 2.0 hours per employee respectively.
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The Group designs and arranges training programmes for its
employees according to their training needs and skills required
for daily business operations. Orientation training is provided for
all newcomers, wherein the Group communicates the policies,
rules and regulations of the Group to them. On-the-job training
is provided for existing employees, which generally falls in the
following categories: work safety, fire safety, occupational health,
first aid skill, environmental protection, operation of equipment and
work procedures. Emergency response training assures employees’
prompt responses in the event of safety incidents and other
emergencies (e.g., fire, collision and cargo falling). These training
programmes are designed to strengthen employees’ knowledge,
competency, improve their productivity and effectiveness which
eventually improve their workplace performance.

Crew members from the engineering department and deck
department are required to attend recognised maritime courses
and in-service training covering topics of onboard maintenance
of machinery and electrical appliances, vessel navigation and
cargo handling. Qualified crew members are eligible to serve in
the positions in the vessels and meet customers’ requirements
for the rendering of services at particular sites. Employees at
the management positions or above are subject to corporate
management training to understand their obligations and legal
responsibilities in the Group.

B4. Labour Standards

The employment of forced or child labour is strictly prohibited in all
the Group’s operations. To prevent employment of child labour,
new employees are required to provide identification documents
for age verification, ensuring that they are legally entitled to work
for the Group or otherwise employment contract is not entered.
The Human Resource Department conducts reference check
for new employees to ensure compliance with the Employment
Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong). All employees
of the Group have signed and agreed on the terms laid out in
the employment contracts. There was no child labour nor forced
labour in the Group’s operation, and no material non-compliance
in relation to prevention of child and forced labour was recorded
during the Reporting Period.
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B5. Supply Chain Management

The Group has developed policies and systems to manage qualified
suppliers and evaluate potential suppliers. According to the supplier
evaluation system, the Group conducts a thorough background
check of all suppliers and sub-contractors before entering and
agreeing to contracts. The approved suppliers are reviewed yearly
against their performance, quality of product and service, price and
product responsibility.

Both suppliers and subcontractors are required to provide
and update the vessels with proper licences and permits,
which indicates the compliance with the relevant laws and the
requirements by the Marine Department as inspected by chartered
surveyors.

During the Reporting Period, the Group engaged a total of 214
suppliers, most of which were in Hong Kong. The Group’s suppliers
and sub-contractors primarily provided repair and maintenance
services, vessel chartering services, crews and shipyards.
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B6. Service Responsibility

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not note any cases
of material non-compliance in relation to health and safety,
advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to products and
services provided as required by related laws and regulations.

The Group strives to provide promising and quality products
and services. In order to assure vessel safety and quality, annual
inspections are performed by chartered surveyors and operation
license is renewed regularly. The crew members have attained
relevant licenses to meet customers’ requirements for the rendering
of services at sites.

Intellectual Property (‘IP’] Rights

The Group strives to manage its IPs and strictly upholds the
Copyright Ordinance, Chapter 528 of the Laws of Hong Kong.
During the Reporting Period, the Group have registered 2
trademarks of “Yun Lee” which is protected under Section 47(3)
of the Trademarks Ordinance, Chapter 559 of the Laws of Hong
Kong. No non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations
relating to IP rights was noted during the Reporting Period.

Confidential Information

The Group pays great attention to protecting confidential
information and strictly upholds the Personal Data (Privacy)
Ordinance in daily business operation. Resigned staffs are required
to sign the confidentiality agreement, for agreeing not to disclose
the Group’s trade secrets and related confidential information. The
Employee Handbook clearly states that staffs are prohibited from
disclosing or making copy of any confidential information without
the authorisation by the Group. In the event of breach, such
violation is considered as serious misconduct at workplace and the
considered employee is subject to disciplinary action or immediate
dismissal. During the Reporting Period, there was no complaint
received.
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Customer Service

The Group is committed to providing quality customer services.
A dedicated 24-hour direct hotline is set up for providing prompt
support services on ship arrangement. The supporting team
handles complaints/enquiries and provides assistance in a timely
manner. During the Reporting Period, the Group did not receive
service-related complaint.

B7. Anti-corruption

The Group adopts policies on anti-bribery and corruption which
is strictly enforced in accordance with the Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance (Chapter 201 of the Laws of Hong Kong), and prohibits
employees from solicitation, acceptance of or offering any
‘advantage’ (gifts, loan, fee, reward, commission, office, contract,
service, favour or the discharge of any liability) without lawful
authority and the express permission of the employer.

Employees are required to adhere to the requirements of the
Conflict of Interest Policy established by the Group. Employee
who has close relationship with suppliers or customers shall
declare all the interests by submitting written form to the Group.
The case will be addressed on guarding against possible illicit
enrichment or conflicts of interests. For any suspected fraud, the
internal department shall report to the management level within
two working days and conduct corresponding investigations.
The identity of whistle-blower is kept confidential and will be well
informed when disclosure is required.

During the Reporting Period, there was no concluded legal case
regarding corrupt practices brought against the Group or its
employees. The Group did not note any cases of non-compliance
with laws and regulations on money laundering or corruption.
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B8. Community Investment

The Group cares for the community and actively engages in
various voluntary services. Although the Group has not formulated
community engagement policy, it accomplishes its social
responsibility by addressing the needs of the local community.
During the Reporting Period, the Group focused on manpower
nurturing and made contributions by both financial and non-
financial means. The Group will continue to devote efforts in the
community for the coming years.

Educational Contributions

The Group is committed to cultivating young talents for the maritime
industry. During the Reporting Period, the Group sponsored 4
scholarships for talented students and was invited to give lectures
in the Maritime Services Training Institute of Vocational Training
Council.

Donations and Volunteering

The Group made a charitable donation to the Barefoot Doctors
Limited and participated in the Healthcare Facilities Enhancement
Program in the suburban areas of Guangdong Province in China.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFTHRE

The Board is pleased to present its report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2021.

CORPORATE INFORMATION

In preparation for the Listing, the Group underwent the
reorganisation, details of the reorganisation are set out in the
Company’s prospectus dated 4 March 2019 (the “Prospectus”).

The shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange with effect from 18 March 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The Company’s subsidiaries are principally involved in (i) vessel
chartering and related services; and (i) ship management.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020 and the
financial positions of the Company and of the Group as at that date
are set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 84 to
183 of this annual report.

The Board has resolved to recommend the payment of a final
dividend of HK 1.3 cent per ordinary share in respect of the year
ended 31 March 2021 (2020: HK 0.5 cent).

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2021, comprising the discussion of business prospects, is set out
in the “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 6 to 15
of this annual report and the cross-referenced part of the annual
report forms part of the directors’ report. The Group committed
to enhancing governance, promoting employee benefits and
development, protecting the environment and giving back to
society in order to fulfill social responsibility and achieve sustainable
growth.
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POSSIBLE RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES FACING THE COMPANY

The Group’s financial conditions, results of operations, businesses
and prospects may be affected by a number of risks and
uncertainties. The following are the key risks and uncertainties
identified by the Group. There may be other risks and uncertainties
which are not known to the Group or which may not be material
now but could turn out to be material in the future.

Business Risk

There are certain risks involved in the Group’s business operations,
many of which are beyond the Group’s control, these risks may
limit the Group’s ability to execute its strategies successfully. The
Directors believe that the following are some major risks that may
have a material adverse impact on the Group, namely (i) most of
the Group’s revenue is derived from non-recurring contracts, failure
to obtain new contracts may affect the Group’s sustainability and
financial performance; (i) failure to retain qualified personnel to
operate the Group’s vessel fleet may adversely affect the Group’s
business operations and financial performance; (iii) the Group or the
owners of the Group’s chartered vessels may not be able to renew
or maintain the Operating Licences of the Group’s vessel fleet;
(iv) the Group’s ability to compete for vessel chartering contracts
largely depends on the availability of vessels and there is no
guarantee that the Group will be able to renew the charterparties
with the owners of the Group’s chartered vessels.

Financial Risk

The financial risk management of the Group are set out in note
28(b) to the consolidated financial statements and the cross-
referenced part of the annual report forms part of the directors’
report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION POLICY

The Group has strong commitment towards environmental
protection and is committed to supporting the environmental
sustainability. Compliance procedures are in place to ensure
adherence to applicable laws, rules and regulations. During the year
ended 31 March 2021 and up to the date of this annual report, the
Group did not incur any significant cost in relation to environmental
protection or have any material environmental-related incident,
and the Group had not been penalised by competent government
authority for environmental-related violations.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Board believes the compliance with laws and regulations as the
cornerstone of a business and attaches considerable importance to
it. To the best knowledge of the Board, during the year ended 31
March 2021 and up to the date of this annual report, the Group has
complied with relevant laws and regulations that have significant
impact on the business and operations of the Group. Further, any
changes in applicable laws, rules and regulations are brought to the
attention of relevant employees and relevant operation units from
time to time.

RELATIONS WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS

The Board recognises that our employees are valuable assets
contributing to the Group’s future success. The Group provides
competitive remuneration package to attract, motivate and retain
our employees. The Board also regularly reviews the remuneration
package of our employees and makes necessary adjustments
to conform to the prevailing market practices. The Board also
treasures that maintaining good relationship with our customers
and suppliers is vital to achieve the Group’s long-term goals. During
the year, there was no significant dispute between the Group
companies and our business partners.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and equity
of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the
Prospectus and the published audited financial statements, is set
out on page 184. This summary does not form part of the audited
financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year ended 31 March 2021 are set out in note 15
to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
the year ended 31 March 2021 are set out in note 25 to the
consolidated financial statements.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

Charitable donations made by the group during the year ended 31
March 2021 amounted to HK$70,000 (2020: HK$70,000).

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2021, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the applicable laws of
the Cayman Islands and the Articles of Association, amounted to
HK$93,339,000 (2020: HK$104,509,000).

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year ended 31 March 2020 are set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 87 of this
annual report and note 34 to the consolidated financial statements
on page 182 of this annual report, respectively.
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DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year ended 31 March 2021 and up to the
date of this report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Wen Tsz Kit Bondy (chairman and chief executive officer)
Ms. Chan Sau Ling Amy

Independent Non-Executive Director
Mr. Liu Hon Por Francis

Mr. Wu Tai Cheung

Mr. Fu Bradley

In accordance with article 112 of the Articles of Association, any
Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy on the
Board shall hold office only until the first general meeting of the
Company after his appointment and be subject to re-election at
such meeting.

In accordance with article 112 of the Articles of Association, all
the Directors, namely, Mr. Wen Tsz Kit Bondy, Ms. Chan Sau Ling
Amy, Mr. Liu Hon Por Francis, Mr. Wu Tai Cheung, Mr. Fu Bradley
will offer himself/herself for re-election as an executive/independent
non-executive Director (as the case may be).

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES
Biographical details of the Directors and senior management are
set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management”.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors a confirmation of his independence pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers that all the
independent nonexecutive Directors are independent.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
agreement with the Company, and each of the independent non-
executive Directors has signed an appointment letter with the
Company, for a term of three years commencing from the Listing
Date. The letters of appointment are subject to termination in
accordance with their respective terms.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with the Company
or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group
within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2021, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance “SFO”)) as recorded in the
register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO or
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:

Long positions in shares of the Company
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Number of  Percentage of
shares shareholding
Name of Director Nature of interest interested interest
FrisERR hFRER
g EEME R&OEE Aotk
Wen Tsz Kit Bondy Interest in controlled corporation and 558,858,750 55.89%
interest of spouse (Notes 1 and 2)

A LB R R EER (1 &2)

Chan Sau Ling Amy Interest in controlled corporation and 558,858,750 55.89%

interest of spouse (Notes 1 and 2)
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REEEEm MBS (HE1 &2)
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Notes:

(1) These 558,858,750 Shares are held by Kitling (BVI). The entire issued share
capital of Kitling (BVI) is owned by Mr. Wen Tsz Kit Bondy (“Mr. Wen”) and
by Ms. Chan Sau Ling Amy (“Ms. Chan”) as to 70% and 30% respectively.
Each of Mr. Wen and Ms. Chan will therefore be deemed interested in the
558,858,750 shares held by Kitling (BVI) as interest in controlled corporation.

2) Since Mr. Wen and Ms. Chan are married to each other, Mr. Wen will be
deemed interested in the shares which Ms. Chan is deemed interested in as
interest of spouse, and vice versa.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2021, there were no
other interests or short positions of the Directors of the Company
in the shares or underlying shares or debentures of the Company
or any associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO) or pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, required to be
recorded in the register or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS

AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2021, the following persons/entities (other than the
Directors or the chief executive of the Company) had an interest or
short position in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of part XV of the SFO, or which were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO, or otherwise notified to the Company were
as follows:

Wi

(1) 558,858,750 1% % 5 A% 15 Ty f Kitling (BVI)
A o Kitling BV) 2 2 #E ZETRATIH
BFHEEEDREE D RRER LT[R
1) B A 70% K% 30% ° 38 5t A KR
27+ A It & 3R AR Kitling (BVI) BT A 2
558,858,750 Ak ik {5 R B 1A B an o

2 BHREEERRZEIRRE  RBREIHR
REAREZBROT  RELEREREAR
B R2ZIA -

BREXPEEN R_T-_—F=H
=t—B BEARFREERARAK
EAREEE (ERRB AR MEHRIE
XV EB) 8 B fn SRR R (0 sk B
HERERE 7 L E &5 35215 A5C
A RC A e R JR A ZB AR B AR 2 <7 A
HMEARRR LB EMERSRRE

FERRREMA LRS- 1HEA
RS EREPOESRIKE

RZEBE-_—F=A=+—H' ' U TAL
SEBRRARESRETETHRAER
SMBIBEESF RBEGRAIEXVEE2 X
FEINHREXRARAER  HHRA
NEIRI IR R AB R AR 1) ¥R B A IR 1R 3B
HREE GG FIB6IETABERAR
Al B RMARAENERRAIMER K
KEWT



Long positions in shares of the Company
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RAEQTRBZEFR

Number of  Percentage of
shares shareholding
Name of Director Nature of interest interested interest
FsEER R ER
BEspE A8 EEMtE R B E Bak
Kitling Investments Beneficial owner 558,858,750 55.89%
(BVI) Limited EnAA
Wen Tsz Kit Bondy Interest in controlled corporation and 558,858,750 55.89%
interest of spouse (Note 1)
G Ry EE S RS (1)
Chan Sau Ling Amy Interest in controlled corporation and 558,858,750 55.89%
interest of spouse (Note 1)
BR&BI Ry EE S RS (1)
Novel Choice Ventures Beneficial owner 50,000,000 5.0%
Limited
MEEEIRER AR EnEEA
Tang Yiu Chi James Interest in controlled corporation (Note 2) 50,000,000 5.0%

SRR Xy AE s (M 2)

(1) The share capital of Kitling (BVI) is beneficially owned by Mr. Wen and Ms.
Chan as to 70% and 30% respectively.

2) The entire share capital of Novel Choice Ventures Limited is owned by Mr.
Tang Yiu Chi James.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2021, the Company has
not been notified by any persons/entities (other than the Directors
or the chief executive of the Company) who held an interest or
short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of
the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO
or which were recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year ended 31 March 2021 was the Company
or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares
in, or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has conditionally adopted a share option scheme
(the “Share Option Scheme”) on 20 September 2018. The Share
Option Scheme is a share incentive scheme and is established
to recognise and acknowledge the contributions the Eligible
Participants (as defined below) have had or may have made to
the Group. The Share Option Scheme will provide the Eligible
Participants an opportunity to have a personal stake in the
Company with the view to achieving the following objectives: (i)
motivating the Eligible Participants to optimise their performance
efficiency for the benefit of the Group; and (ii) attracting and
retaining or otherwise maintaining on-going business relationships
with the Eligible Participants whose contributions are or will be
beneficial to the long-term growth of the Group.

Pursuant to the Share Option Scheme, the Directors may, at their
absolute discretion, offer to grant an option to subscribe for the
shares subject to such conditions (including, without limitation, any
minimum period for which an option must be held before it can be
exercised and/or any performance targets which must be achieved
before an option can be exercised) as they may think fit, to the
following persons (the “Eligible Participants”): (a) any full-time or
part-time employees, executives or officers of the Company; (b) any
director (including executive, non-executive and independent non-
executive directors) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries; (c)
any advisers, consultants, service providers, customers and agents
to the Company or any of its subsidiaries; and (d) such other
persons who, in the sole opinion of the Directors, will contribute or
have contributed to the Group. An option shall have been accepted
by an Eligible Participant within 21 days from the date of the offer
of grant of the option. A consideration of HK$1.00 is payable on
acceptance of the offer of grant of an option.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options (excluding, for this purpose, options which
have lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Company) to
be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option scheme of the Company must not in aggregate exceed
100,000,000 shares, being 10% of the shares in issue as at the
Listing Date. No share options had been granted by the Company
under the Share Option Scheme up to the date of this report.
Therefore, the number of shares available for issue is 100,000,000
shares, being approximately 10% of the shares in issue as at the
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date of this report. The total number of shares issued and which
may fall to be issued upon exercise of the options granted under
the Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of
the Company (including both exercised and outstanding options)
to each participant in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1%
of the issued share capital of the Company for the time being. Any
further grant of options in excess of the 1% limit shall be subject
to shareholders’ approval in general meeting with such participant
and his associates abstaining from voting.

The subscription price per share under the Share Option Scheme
shall be a price determined by the Directors, but shall not be less
than the highest of (a) the closing price of the shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of
offer for the grant, which must be a Business day; (b) the average
closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheets for the five Business days immediately preceding
the date of grant; and (c) the nominal value of a share.

Unless there is an early termination of the Share Option Scheme
pursuant to the rules of the Share Option Scheme, the Share
Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of 10 years after the
date on which the Share Option Scheme is adopted. The period
during which an option may be exercised will be determined by the
Directors in their absolute discretion, save that no option shall be
exercised later than 10 years from the date of grant.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Share Option
Scheme” above, there were no equity-linked agreements entered
into by the Group, or existed during the year ended 31 March
2021.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions entered into by the Group
during the year ended 31 March 2021 are set out in note 26 to the
consolidated financial statements.

None of the related party transactions set out in note 26 to
the consolidated financial statements constitutes “Connected
Transactions” or “Continuing Connected Transactions” in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Company confirmed that it has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as those disclosed in note 26 to the consolidated financial
statements, no other transactions, arrangements or contracts of
significance, to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was
a party and in which a Director or an entity connected with him/her
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the year ended 31 March 2021 or at any time during the
year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
were entered into or existed during the year ended 31 March 2021.

COMPETING BUSINESS

For the year ended 31 March 2021 and up to the date of this
report, none of the Directors or the controlling shareholders of the
Company (has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing
Rules and, in the context of the Company, means collectively Mr.
Wen Tsz Kit Bondy, Ms. Chan Sau Ling Amy and Kitling Investment
(BVI) Limited and their respective close associates had any interests
in any business, apart from the business of the Group, which
competes or likely to compete (either directly or indirectly) with the
business of the Group.

Non-Competition Undertaking by Controlling Shareholders

The controlling shareholders of the Company had entered into a
deed of non-competition in favour of the Company (for itself and as
trustee for each of its subsidiaries, Eastlink Marine Services Limited
and Scenic Shipping Company Limited) on 20 September 2018
(the “Deed of Non-Competition”), details of which are set out
in section headed “Relationship with the Controlling Shareholders
— Deed of Non-competition” in the Prospectus. The controlling
shareholders of the Company have confirmed to the Company of
their compliance with all the undertakings provided to the Company
under the Deed of Non-Competition.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director shall be
entitled to be indemnified out of the assets or profits of the
Company against all losses or liabilities which he/she may sustain
or incur in or about the execution of the duties of his/her office or
otherwise in relation thereto.

The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’
liability insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the
Company since the Listing Date.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group was set
up by the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit,
qualifications and competence. The emolument of the Directors
are reviewed and recommended by the Remuneration Committee,
having regard to the Company’s operating results, individual
performance and comparable market statistics.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive
to eligible persons, details are set out under the heading “Share
Option Scheme” in this report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
of Association or the applicable laws of the Cayman Islands where
the Company is incorporated, which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

RELIEF OF TAXATION

The Company is not aware of any relief of taxation available to the
Shareholders of the Company by reason of their holding of the
Shares of the Company.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the
Company’s total issued share capital was held by the public as at
the date of this report.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 March 2021, (i) the Group’s largest
customer and five largest customers accounted for approximately
19.1% and 58.3% respectively of the Group’s total revenue; and
(i) the Group’s largest supplier and five largest suppliers accounted
for approximately 11.4% and 38.9% respectively of the Group’s
total purchases (not including purchases of items which are of a
capital nature).

As far as the Directors are aware, none of the Directors, their
associates or any shareholders who owned more than 5% of
the Company’s share capital had any interest in the five largest
customers or suppliers of the Group.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the
year ended 31 March 2021.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The Board has reviewed the Company’s corporate governance
practices and is satisfied that the Company has been in compliance
with code provisions set out in the CG Code contained in Appendix
14 to the Listing Rules for the year ended 31 March 2021 and up
to the date of this report.

Details of corporate governance report are set out on pages 21 to
36 of this annual report.
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USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM THE LISTING

The Company was successfully listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange on 18 March 2019. Net proceeds from the
Listing (after deducting underwriting fee and relevant expenses
payable by the Group in connection with the Listing) amounted
to approximately HK$65.6 million. As at 31 March 2020, a total
amount of HK$43.6 million out of the net proceeds had been used
by the Group according to the allocation set out in the Company’s
announcement of offer price and allotment results dated 15 March
2019. As at 31 March 2020, the Group’s planned application and
actual utilisation of the net proceeds is set out below:

Utilisation of Remaining Expected
net proceeds balance of timetable
during the Utilised the net of full
Planned vyear ended net proceeds proceeds utilisation
use of 31 March as at 31 as at 31 of the
net proceeds 2021 March 2020 March 2020 balance
8=
—E-—F
ZRA=+t—H R=Z=-2F R=-2=ZF
Lt¥E =ZA=+—H =ZA=+—H EREEDH
RS RIEFE BAMRE CBAMS FR8RE BAN
BEAR MIE R FIERH FERE FAHREX
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 Year
FTHERT TR TR FTHERT FE
Acquiring vessels 43,625 — 43,625 — —
W B M AR
Setting up a shipyard in Hong Kong
(Note) 22,000 - - 22,000 2022
REBRIMIS (H7E)
65,625 - 43,625 22,000

BEAEEZNEERARABHA-T
—hWE=ZANANERER(BRERZ])
T BTSN EAREETE YR
T \F+_AERAEMEME LR
REZEE - BAEEREBRFAREEAE
BRETHMELY AEBBERERES
ke HE MR IMIE  BEEEAME
HRIEREKRBER S _FRYUHA -

Note:  Although the Group has endeavoured to adhere to the implementation plan Bt -
for the use of proceeds as disclosed in the prospectus of the Company
dated 4 March 2019 (the “Prospectus”) by submitting tenders to rent two
parcels of lands for shipyard sites in late December 2018, the Group was
not awarded any tenancy from the Government for the tendered parcel of
land. The Group would continue to exploit opportunities to rent a suitable
site for a shipyard. The Directors expect the remaining net proceeds will be

fully utilised in 2022.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

AUDITOR

The financial statements have been audited by Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu, who retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
reappointment at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Wen Tsz Kit Bondy

Yun Lee Marine Group Holdings Limited
Chairrman

Hong Kong
26 June 2021
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TO THE MEMBERS OF YUN LEE MARINE GROUP HOLDINGS
LIMITED
HASEREZRERAF

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Yun Lee
Marine Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 84 to 183,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 March 2021, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (‘HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we

do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

PR =S

RIERFINEXRHE  BREFFER
BB ARGV BRERTRERN
FH ZEFTRNTRUMAEAERES
MBI N RE R ETRE
HAERMTERAEFFTHERBERESR °

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

We identified impairment assessment of trade
receivables as a key audit matter due to the
significance of trade receivables to the Group’s
consolidated financial position and the involvement of
subjective judgement and management estimates in
evaluating the expected credit losses (“ECL”) of the
Group’s trade receivables at the end of the reporting
period.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group’s trade receivables
amounting to HK$68,734,000, which represented
approximately 25% of the total assets of the Group
and out of these trade receivables of approximately
HK$30,391,000 were past due. As explained in
Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements,
HK$2,350,000 of allowance of credit loss was
recognised.

As disclosed in Notes 4, 19 and 28 to the consolidated
financial statements, trade receivables are assessed
individually for significant trade debtors and collectively
for remaining trade debtors for impairment allowance
based on the historical credit losses experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors
and general economic conditions at the end of each
reporting period, including time value of money where
appropriate.

Details of the ECL are set out in Note 28 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Our procedures in relation to impairment assessment
of trade receivables included:

e Understanding how the management estimates
ECL allowance for trade receivables;

e Testing the integrity of information used
by management to develop the individual
assessment;

e  Challenging management’s basis and judgement
in determining credit loss allowance on trade
receivables as at 31 March 2021, including the
reasonableness of management’s assessment
on the internal credit rating of the trade debtors
and the basis of estimated loss rate and forward
looking rate information; and

e Evaluating the disclosures regarding the
impairment assessment of trade receivables in
Notes 4, 19 and 28 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED WITH
GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

e  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

e  Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.
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We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Yeung Pik Fung.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
28 June 2021
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Yun Lee Marine Group Holdings Limited JE#/g =& @B R AR

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
HERmREMEEKRER

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BHE-_T-—F=-A=+—HIEFE

2021 2020

Bt e —T-FF
HK$’000 HK$’000

TER THET

Revenue Wz 5 226,194 202,418
Cost of revenue LGN (165,952) (150,810)
Gross profit EF 60,242 51,608
Other income H AW A 6 10,743 1,904
Other gains and losses H bl s & EiE 7 3,685 2,801
Impairment loss under expected ~ FBEEEEBERAETH

credit loss model, net of reversal ~ JREEIE - RO &5 8 (2,350) —
Administrative expenses TR (36,793) (44,492)
Finance costs &K A 9 (70) (95)
Share of results of associates DI E N RIS (32) 1,556
Profit before taxation B 56 A8 A 35,425 13,282
Income tax expenses FS R 10 (5,332) (2,071)
Profit and total comprehensive FERMN R MK EEEE

income for the year 11 30,093 11,211

Profit and total comprehensive AT AT REEFE R R R

income for the year EENEBRE
attributable to:
— owners of the Company . VNEIEZ 2PN 25,020 9,700
— non-controlling interests — IR 5,073 1,511
30,093 11,211
Earnings per share - Basic BRAM—ER
(HK cents) (&) 14 2.50 0.97



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
A BRI R

NOTES 2020
Bt & —E-—F —E-EHF
HK$’000 HK$°000
FExT FET
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment W BERE&E 15 81,244 72,755
Right-of-use assets FREEE 16 2,966 1,736
Interests in associates BN Rl A 17 6,189 6,221
Deposits for acquisition of property, — WEWE - ME KR EHH
plant and equipment e 15 18,929 4,476
Other non-current asset HiIERBEE 18 3,100 —
Rental deposits HEZe 19 492 365
Deferred tax assets BEETIEE = 24 1,459 912
114,379 86,465
Current assets REEE
Trade and other receivables B 5 & E A fE W IR 19 74,834 53,007
Tax recoverable AT U [E1 757 18 693 4,609
Amount due from an associate JE W — P B 2 8 &) 3R I8 20 - 3,271
Restricted deposits R #7732 21 2,303 —
Time deposits TEHTF K 21 6,048 47,161
Bank balances and cash IRITERNIRE 21 81,121 57,272
164,999 165,320
Current liabilities REAE
Trade and other payables B 5 & E M IR 22 22,581 19,387
Amounts due to associates FET B = A R 5RO 20 2,896 2,622
Amount due to a non-controlling AR ENGIE =20 i &
shareholder of a subsidiary FRIA 20 1,134 —
Lease liabilities HEBE 23 1,880 1,537
Tax payables FERT IR 813 1,053
29,304 24,599
Net current assets RBEERE 135,695 140,721
Total assets less current liabilities # & ER T E S & 250,074 227,186




Yun Lee Marine Group Holdings Limited JE#/g =& @B R AR

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
FERBRAR

At 31 March 2021
R=ZZE=—_—F=A=+—H

2021 2020
Bt e —T-FF
HK$’000 HK$’000

TER THET

Non-current liabilities FkRBEE
Lease liabilities HEaE 23 1,096 204
Deferred tax liabilities BEMIBEE 24 7,432 5,629
8,528 5,833
Net assets EEFE 241,546 221,353
Capital and reserves BEAXRFE
Share capital f& s 25 10,000 10,000
Reserves i 197,574 177,554
Equity attributable to owners RAEEA AEERA
of the Company 207,574 187,554
Non-controlling interests IEVER = 33,972 33,799
Total equity EREE 241,546 221,353

The consolidated financial statements on pages 84 to 183 were  F£84Z 183 E MK AV BHREN -

approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 ~ ——F XA+ /\BEE=S it £ LR
June 2021 and are signed on its behalf by: EHE THTIWNALTRRESTSE
£
Wen Tsz Kit Bondy Chan Sau Ling Amy PR el PRFR

DIRECTOR DIRECTOR EF EF



Annual Report 2021 4

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
s ES2HR

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BE-_T-—F=A=1T—HIEFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

KOAEEARL
Non-
Share Share  Merger Other ~ Capital  Retained controlling Total
capital  premium  reserve  reserve  resemve profits Total interests equity
Rx  RMEE AKEE ERRE  EXER  REE BE FEREZ RR4E
HK$'000  HK$000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HKS000  HKS'000  HK$'000
Tér TRr TEn TER TEr TEn TEn  TEr  TEn
(Notea)  (Noteb)  (Notec)
(Wita)  (WiEb)  (Rikc)
At1 Aprl 2019 S-NEMA-H 10000 183728 (63.406) 1718 70568 177,854 - 1778y
Proft and total comprehensive ET mﬂ&% Y&Es
income for the year = = = = 9,700 9,700 1,511 1,211
Acquistion of assets through FANE-FNBLANE
acquistion of a subsiciary BE(Wit0)
(Note 30) = = = = = = 3268 33208
Dividend paid to non- BfFEERERRE
controling interests = = = = = = (980) (%80)
At31 March 2000 and 1 Aprl 2020 R=EZFE=A=1-AR
Z5-FEMA-A 10000 133728 (63,406) 1713 80268 187,554 33799 221353
Proft and total comprehensive AR EENEEE
income for the year - - - - 25,020 25,020 5,073 30,093
Dividend paid (Note 13) BRRE (R ) - - - - (5000 (5000 - (5000
Divicend paid to non- ﬁ#ﬂﬂ&ﬁ
controling interests - - - - - - (4,900) (4,900
At 31 March 2021 RoET-FZASE-E 0 10000 193728 (63,406) 17134 100288 207574 339712 241,546

Merger reserve mainly represents the difference between the total equity of
Yun Lee Marine Holdings (BVI) Limited (“Yun Lee (BVI)”) acquired and the
nominal value of share capital of the entities pursuant to the reorganisation
during the year ended 31 March 2019.

Amounts represent (i) the difference between the changes in share of net asset
of a subsidiary by the non-controlling shareholders and the capital injection by
non-controlling shareholders upon completion of share allotment in prior year;
(ii) the difference between the par value of the allotted shares of Yun Lee (BVI)
and the fair value of equity interest in Eastlink Marine Services Limited (“Eastlink
Marine”), an associate of the Group, pursuant to the reorganisation during
the year ended 31 March 2019 and (jii) the difference between the amount by
which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the consideration paid
arising from acquisition of additional interests in subsidiaries by the Group
when shares of the Company had been listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 18 March 2019 (the “Listing”).

Amounts represent (i) the portion of issue cost in relation to the Listing borne
by Kitling Investments (BVI) Limited (“Kitling (BVI)”) and (i) the waiver of an
amount of HK$12,500,000 advanced from Kitling (BVI) upon completion of
Listing.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

GERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BE-_T-_—F=A=+—HILFE

2021 2020
—E-—-F —E-THF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FERT
Operating activities REES
Profit before taxation B 25 A1 g A 35,425 13,282
Adjustments for: AT EIBELAE
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BEMEEITE
equipment 5,778 4,251
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERREENE 2,209 2,156
Impairment loss, net of reversal of BEEEEBRERIE T
trade receivables under expected FBEEE - HEREE
credit loss model H 5 W GIE 2,350 —
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEWE  BEE&EKE
equipment (3,687) (2,676)
Interest income from banks RTTH B UL A (611) (1,055)
Share of results of associates DL E A RS 32 (1,556)
Finance costs A& AR 70 95
Operating cash flows before movements LEECHHHILERERE
in working capital 41,566 14,497
(Increase) decrease in trade and B 5 & E A WA
other receivables (4 n) w4 (24,177) 10,119
Increase (decrease) in trade and B 5 R E b e FRIE
other payables #MORL) 3,194 (6,261)
(Decrease) increase in amount JE < — Bt & R B FIR
due to an associate CR ) an (206) 96
Cash generated from operations KERBHE 20,377 18,451
Income tax paid B FEH (400) (2,099)
Net cash from operating activities KRETHRBRETEEHE 19,977 16,352




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HE-Z-_—F=A=1+—HILFE

2021 2020
—E—F —ECEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE&xT FET
Investing activities REES
Withdrawal of time deposits IREVE BiF K 81,860 27,094
Placement of time deposits BFEATEBER (40,747) (74,255)
Placement of restricted deposits 7 AR $77 K (2,303) —
Purchase of property, plant and equipment  BBE W% - BE L &RE (10,985) (23,980)
Purchase of other non-current asset BEHMIERHEE (3,100) —
Deposit paid for acquisition of property, BERBEEDZE - BE &
plant and equipment RS (18,929) (4,476)
Repayment from an associate —EHE QA RIER 6,147 5,123
Advances to an associate il NS E-E (2,876) (8,394)
Payment for rental deposits S REEES (127) —
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE « BEMRE
plant and equipment FriS 538 4,881 3,041
Interest received from banks EUERTTA S 611 1,055
Proceeds for acquisition of assets FRUWENBARWEEE
through acquisition of a subsidiary, FTSE - HIkRENRE®
net of cash paid (Note 30) (ft7E30) - 150
Net cash from (used in) RETEME (AR TR
investing activities 14,432 (74,642)
Financing activities RESEE
Repayment for lease liabilities HEBFEENK (2,204) (2,151)
Dividend paid B E (5,000) —
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests AT IR RE AR B (4,900) (980)
Payment of share issue costs X ATRRAD BEATRC AR - (252)
Interest expense on lease liabilities HEEMNERX (70) (99)
Advance from an associate —fEEEE QR BN 480 2,057
Advance from a non-controlling shareholder — — 1 Fff BB A &) FE4% A% A& SR 24 3k
of a subsidiary 9,287 =
Repayment to a non-controlling shareholder a1 — &5 B /8 /A &) FE#5 %
of a subsidiary % B 3K (8,153) —
Net cash used in financing activities RMEETBAMARESFEE (10,560) (1,421)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and BeERBESEEYE M
cash equivalents (D) 3% 23,849 (59,711)
Cash and cash equivalents at FUORERESEEY
beginning of the year 57,272 116,983
Cash and cash equivalents FRAGREASEEY -
at end of the year,
represented by bank balances and cash EINRRITEB LIRS 81,121 57,272




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B B #5 ER R B 5E

n‘l-.R
For the year ended 31 March 2021
BE-_T-_—F=A=+—HILFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Yun Lee Marine Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated in the Cayman Islands and registered as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies
Law Chapter 22 of the Cayman Islands. Its immediate
and ultimate holding company is Kitling (BVI). The ultimate
controlling shareholders of the Company and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) are Mr. Wen Tsz Kit Bondy (“Mr. Wen”) and Ms.
Chan Sau Ling Amy (“Ms. Chan”), the spouse of Mr. Wen
(collectively as “the Controlling Shareholders”). The address
of the registered office of the Company is 89 Nexus Way,
Camana Bay, Grand Cayman, KY1-9009, Cayman Islands.
The principal place of business of the Company is Flat D, 31/
F., Billion Plaza Il, 10 Cheung Yue Street, Cheung Sha Wan,
Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 31.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong Dollars (“HK$”), which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company and its subsidiaries.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs™)

In the current year, the Group has applied the Amendments
to References to the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS
Standards and the following amendments to HKFRSs issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) for the first time, which are mandatorily effective
for the annual period beginning on or after 1 April 2020 for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to Definition of Material
HKAS 1 and HKAS 8

Amendments to Definition of a Business
HKFRS 3

Amendments to Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
HKFRS 9, HKAS 39
and HKFRS 7

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BE-_ZT-_—F=A=1+—HIEFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HE-_Z-_—F=A=1+—HItFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of
Material

The Group has applied the Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKAS 8 for the first time in the current year. The amendments
provide a new definition of material that states “information is
material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably
be expected to influence decisions that the primary users of
general purpose financial statements make on the basis of
those financial statements, which provide financial information
about a specific reporting entity.” The amendments also
clarify that materiality depends on the nature or magnitude
of information, either individually or in combination with other
information, in the context of the financial statements taken as
a whole.

The application of the Amendments to References to the
Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards and the
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year had no material
impact on the Group’s financial positions and performance for
the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in
these consolidated financial statements.

2.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New or revised standards that have been issued but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not
yet effective:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and the related
Amendments®
Amendments to Reference to the Conceptual
HKFRS 3 Framework*

Amendments to Interest Rate Benchmark
HKFRS 9, Reform - Phase 22
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7,

HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture®
Amendment to HKFRS 16  Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions'
Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions
beyond 30 June 20213

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)°

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies®
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates®

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HE-Z-_—F=A=1+—HILFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BE-_Z-_—F=A=+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSS in issue but not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from
a Single Transaction®
Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment -
Proceeds before Intended Use*

Amendments to HKAS 37  Onerous Contracts - Cost of Fulfiling
a Contract*

Amendments to HKFRSs  Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2018 - 2020*

i Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

S Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of all new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material
impact on the consolidated financial statements in the
foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATION FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For
the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements information is considered material if such
information is reasonably expected to influence decision
made by primary users. In addition, the consolidated
financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and by
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on historical cost basis at the end of each
reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies
set out below. Historical cost is generally based on the
fair value of the consideration given in exchange for
goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes
into account the characteristics of the asset or liability
if market participants would take those characteristics
into account when pricing the asset or liability at the
measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/
or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial
statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within the
scope of HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment”, leasing
transactions that are accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS 16, and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net
realisable value in HKAS 2 “Inventories” or value in use in
HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”.

For the year ended 31 March 2021
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BE-_Z-_—F=A=+—HILFE

3.  BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATION FINANCIAL 3. MAUGAWBBRZEERE
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES EEHBEE)
(Continueq)
In addition, for the financial reporting purposes, fair o B mEmS - AF
value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 EFf 2 ZAFEFTENEH AR
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value BHOAEBRERERZF0W AR
measurements are observable and the significance of the BYEHATEFEEENEEN
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which BN RE— ZH=H " FF
are described as follows: LU
e Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in s E—HMMASEBAEER
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that STERRESNEREE
the entity can access at the measurement date; S BERNERMSHHRE
(RFAE)
e Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices s FE_LMMABBATEIE
included within Level 1, that are observable for the E—RETARNRENEE
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and HBEGEMNAEENHEER

EMBARE &

e Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset s F-ABMABBAEE
or liability. BENTAERE ABIE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HE-Z-_—F=A=1+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATION FINANCIAL 3. RBEGAOHBHBRZEERTE
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES EEHHEE)
(Continueq)
Basis of consolidation GEAREE

The consolidated financial statements incorporates
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries.

Control is achieved when the Company:

® has power over the investee;

® is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

* has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from
the date the Group gains control until the date when the
Group ceases to control the subsidiary.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HE-_Z-_—F=A=1+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATION FINANCIAL 3. RBGZAMBHERZEERE
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES EETHEE)
(Continueq)
Basis of consolidation (Continueq) HEAREE(E)

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributable to the owners of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries is attributable to the owners of
the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if
this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HE-Z-_—F=A=1+—HILFE

Optional concentration test

Effective from 1 April 2020, the Group can elect to apply
an optional concentration test, on a transaction-by-
transaction basis, that permits a simplified assessment of
whether an acquired set of activities and assets is not a
business. The concentration testi met if substantially all of
the fair value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated
in a single identifiable asset or group of similar identifiable
assets. The gross assets under assessment exclude cash
and cash equivalents, deferred tax assets, and goodwill
resulting from the effects of deferred tax liabilities. If
the concentration test is met, the set of activities and
assets is determined not to be a business and no further
assessment is needed.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATION FINANCIAL 3. RBGZAMBHRZEERTE
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES EETHEE)
(Continueq)

Asset acquisitions BEWE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HE-_Z-_—F=A=1+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATION FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continueq)

Asset acquisitions

When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities
that do not constitute a business, the Group identifies
and recognises the individual identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed by allocating the purchase price
first to financial assets/financial liabilities at the respective
fair values, the remaining balance of the purchase price
is then allocated to the other identifiable assets and
liabilities on the basis of their relative fair values at the
date of purchase. Such a transaction does not give rise
to goodwill or bargain purchase gain.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the services underlying the particular performance
obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a service (or a
bundle of services) that is distinct or a series of distinct
services that are substantially the same.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATION FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continueq)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over the period of the contract by reference to the
progress towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

® the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance
as the Group performs;

e the Group’s performance creates or enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

e the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or
service.

For the year ended 31 March 2021
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HE-_Z-_—F=A=1+—HItFE

3.  BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATION FINANCIAL 3. RBGZAMBHERZEERE
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES EEHBEE)
(Continueq)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued) KREEFEHH lﬂZ A (%)
Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress G EIER N a - FFTET R E
towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation PLIBRIE (FHIEZE
Output method BH%

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on output
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis
of direct measurements of the value of the services
transferred to the customer to date relative to the
remaining services promised under the contract, that best
depict the Group’s performance in transferring control of
Services.

Investments in associates

An associates are entities over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee but is not control or joint control over
those policies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HE-Z-_—F=A=1+—HILFE

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements
using the equity method of accounting. The financial
statements of associates used for equity accounting
purposes are prepared using uniform accounting policies
as those of the Group for like transactions and events
in similar circumstances. Under the equity method, an
investment in an associate is initially recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of
the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of
the associate. Changes in net assets of the associate
other than profit or loss and other comprehensive income
are not accounted for unless such changes resulted in
changes in ownership interest held by the Group. When
the Group’s share of losses of an associate exceeds
the Group’s interest in that associate (which includes
any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of
the Group’s net investment in the associate), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses.
Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that
the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations
or made payments on behalf of the associate.

Investments in associates are accounted for using the
equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate. On acquisition of the investment
in an associate, any excess of the cost of the investment
over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is
recognised as goodwill, which is included within the
carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the
Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment, after
reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss
in the period in which the investment is acquired.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATION FINANCIAL 3. RBGZAMBHRZEERTE
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES EETHEE)
(Continueq)

Investments in associates (Continued) RBE L GHRE ()
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HE-_Z-_—F=A=1+—HItFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATION FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continueq)

Investments in associates (Continued)

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in an associate may be
impaired. When any objective evidence exists, the entire
carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is
tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a
single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher
of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with
its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised
is not allocated to any asset, including goodwill, that
forms part of the carrying amount of the investment.
Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised
in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the
recoverable amount of the investment subsequently
increases.

When the Group reduces its ownership interests in
associates but the Group continues to use the equity
method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the
proportion of the gain or loss that had previously been
recognised in other comprehensive income relating to
that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss
would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of
the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the
Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions
with the associate is recognised in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements only to the extent of
interests in the associate that is not related to the Group.

3.

RRGEMBHR2BEBERE
BEBR#E)

RBERTHRE (F)
AEEeHAmERFERER
RERAR —EBE QR RS
KERE A EAFER
B ZERENEIRAE(E
ERR)BREFBSTES
36RAE—EENETRIE
AR - TERLEEAKE S
BOAMEREEEQAFERLE
RARRZE ) BEREE - £
M2 R EBEY & D
EEMEE(BRERE)  BK
ZAREREEN D - B
28 Rl (B &5 18 B0 (£ {38 (] #2254 IR
RE Y E S BB E R IE IR
EEB RIS 36 RHER

fie] 7% = 58] H)JR% L A B 2 2 R
ERERERNEBEERA
Bk MEBKREXEERS
REERHEEERABRERN
PHEERH  AIXAEESHE
Al B0 B RFT B R AR S T 0 E At
2HBEERN RS HERIR
LHIEFHDEE B ©

—EASEERENEE L —H
fERRETR S - R
ERARGAEEBRENAS
BiRA M HRRER - HELE
AREBERE 2 %S N R
B e



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HE-Z-_—F=A=1+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATION FINANCIAL 3. RBGZAMBHRZEERTE
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES EETHEE)
(Continueq)
Property, plant and equjpment WE BERZE

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets
that are held for use in the provision of services, or for
administrative purposes are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
items of property, plant and equipment, less their residual
values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-
line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values
and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of
each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of
an item of property, plant and equipment is determined
as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or
loss.

Other non-current asset

Other non-current asset represents club membership with
indefinite useful lives that is acquired separately is carried
at cost less any subsequent accumulated impairment
losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HE-_Z-_—F=A=1+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATION FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continueq)

Lease
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a

period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the
date of initial application, the Group assesses whether
a contract is or contains a lease based on the definition
under HKFRS 16 “Leases” at inception, modification date
or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not
be reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the

contract are subsequently changed.

As a practical expedient, leases with similar characteristics
are accounted on a portfolio basis when the Group
reasonably expects that the effects on the consolidated
financial statements would not differ materially from

individual leases within the portfolio.

The Group as lessee
Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

e the amount of the initial measurement of the lease

liability;

* any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives

received,;

e any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

® an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by the

terms and conditions of the lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HE-Z-_—F=A=1+—HILFE

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the
lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Refunaable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9”) and initially
measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional lease payments
and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATION FINANCIAL 3. RBGZAMBHRZEERTE
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES EETHEE)
(Continueq)
Lease (Continued) HE(#E)
The Group as lessee (Continued) AEBMEREBEAE)
Right-of-use assets (Continued) [EHEEE(E)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HE-_Z-_—F=A=1+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATION FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continueq)

Lease (Continued)

The Group as lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date.
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

e fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

® variable lease payments that depend on an index or

arate;

* amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;

* the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group
is reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

e payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to
terminate the lease.
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After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes
a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-
use assets) whenever the lease term has changed or
there is a change in the assessment of exercise of a
purchase option, in which case the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments
using a revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease modiifications
The Group accounts for a lease modification as a
separate lease if:

* the modification increases the scope of the lease
by adding the right to use one or more underlying
assets; and

* the consideration for the leases increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the
circumstances of the particular contract.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATION FINANCIAL 3. UGN BHRZ2EBEERTE
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES EETHEE)
(Continueq)

Lease (Continued) HE(#E)

The Group as lessee (Continued) AEBMEREBEAE)

Lease liabilities (Continued) HEAE(E)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HE-_Z-_—F=A=1+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATION FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continueq)

Lease (Continued)

The Group as lessee (Continued)

Lease modifications (Continued)

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as
a separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease
liability based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification. The
Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities
by making corresponding adjustments to the relevant
right-of-use asset.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers (“HKFRS 15”). Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities are added
to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets
or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HE-Z-_—F=A=1+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATION FINANCIAL 3. RBGZAMBHRZEERTE
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES EETHEE)
(Continueq)
Financial instruments (Continued) EATHEE)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of financial assets or financial liabilities
and of allocating interest income and interest expense
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, or, where appropriate, a shorter period,
to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

e the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

* the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
fair value.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HE-_Z-_—F=A=1+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATION FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continueq)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continueq)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial assets, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on
the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is
included in the “other income” line item.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HE-Z-_—F=A=1+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATION FINANCIAL 3. UGN BHRZ2EBEERTE
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES EETHEE)
(Continueq)
Financial instruments (Continued) EATHEE)
Financial assets (Continued) SRMEEE)
Impairment of financial assets THEERE

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets
(including trade and other receivables, restricted deposits,
time deposits, rental deposits, bank balances and cash
and amount due from an associate) which are subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of
ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes
in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL”) represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment
is done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current conditions at the reporting date as
well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HE-_Z-_—F=A=1+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATION FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continueq)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continueq)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
in which ease the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of

a default occurring since initial recognition.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is

available without undue cost or effort.
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3.  BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATION FINANCIAL 3. RBGZAMBHRZEERTE
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES EEHHEE)
(Continueq)

Financial instruments (Continued) EATHEE)

Financial assets (Continued) SRMEEE)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued) 1EEEBA 07 F 0 (4 )

In particular, the following information is taken into BEmME  RIT‘EEER

account when assessing whether credit risk has @EKTFEiEDDHﬂ#ﬁ&T@Jﬁ

increased significantly: #

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the e ERIEAINIH(E)HA
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal HEETRER KBRS
credit rating; REERL

e significant deterioration in external market indicators o HNEITISEERBERL
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit REERLL WMEEEE
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor; ANIEHEN - EBAREEE

A= BAERE

e existing or forecast adverse changes in business, s TEFHEBHEBAERR
financial or economic conditions that are expected NRBTERNER - B
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability A AR B9 3R A S TR A

to meet its debt obligations; TH L



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HE-_Z-_—F=A=1+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATION FINANCIAL 3. RBGZAMBHERZEERE
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES EETHEE)
(Continueq)
Financial instruments (Continued) 2ATHEE)

Financial assets (Continueq)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

® an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; and

®* an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the financial
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date. A financial instrument is determined to
have low credit risk if (i) the financial instrument has a
low risk of default, (i) the borrower has a strong capacity
to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near
term and (jii) adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily,
reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual
cash flow obligations. The Group considers a financial
instrument to have low credit risk when it has an internal
or external credit rating of “investment grade” as per
globally understood definition.
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Financial assets (Continueq)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group (without taking into account any collaterals held by
the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATION FINANCIAL 3. RBGZAMBHRZEERTE
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES EETHEE)
(Continueq)

Financial instruments (Continued) EATHEE)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HE-_Z-_—F=A=1+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATION FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continueq)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continueq)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

e significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

® a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

e the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider; or

* it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATION FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continueq)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continueq)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterpart is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries made are recognised
in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that is determined with the
respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition.

For the year ended 31 March 2021
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HE-_Z-_—F=A=1+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATION FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continueq)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continueq)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)
Lifetime ECL for trade receivables are considered on
a collective basis taking into consideration past due
information and relevant credit information such as
forward looking macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

e Past-due status;

* Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

e External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset
is credit-impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their
carrying amount, with the exception of trade receivables,
where the corresponding adjustment is recognised
through a loss allowance account.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATION FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continueq)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continueq)
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to

another party.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the
Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net of

direct issue costs.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2021
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HE-_Z-_—F=A=1+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATION FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continueq)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables,
amount due to a non-controlling shareholder of
a subsidiary and amounts due to associates are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable, including any
non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is
recognised in profit or loss.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.
Exchange differences arising on settlement of monetary
items, and an retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HE-Z-_—F=A=1+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATION FINANCIAL 3. RBGZAMBHRZEERTE
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES EETHEE)
(Continueq)
Impairment on property, plant and equipment and right-of-use N¥E BERREUAREHE

assets and other non-current asset

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets to determine whether there is any
indication that these assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine
the extent of the impairment loss, if any. Other non-
current asset with indefinite useful lives are test for
impairment at least annually, and whenever there is an
indication that they may be impaired.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets are estimated individually. When
it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
corporate assets are allocated to the relevant cash-
generating unit when a reasonable and consistent basis
of allocation can be established, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of cash generating
units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be established. The recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit or group of cash-
generating units to which the corporate asset belongs,
and is compared with the carrying amount of the relevant
cash generating unit or group of cash-generating units.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HE-_Z-_—F=A=1+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATION FINANCIAL 3. RBGZAMBHERZEERE
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES EETHEE)
(Continueq)
Impairment on property, plant and equipment and right-of-use ¥ BERREAREHE

assets and other non-current asset (Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating
unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have not
been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or the cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. For
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent
basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group compares
the carrying amount of a group of cash-generating units,
including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group
of cash-generating units, with the recoverable amount
of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating the
impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based
on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the
group of cash generating units. The carrying amount of
an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value
less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if
determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment
loss that would otherwise have been allocated to the
asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit
or the group of cash generating units. An impairment loss
is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATION FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continueq)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or the cash-generating
unit or a group of cash generating units) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so
that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or
the cash-generating unit or a group of cash generating
units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which
the grants are intended to compensate. Specifically,
government grants whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire
non-current assets are recognised as a deduction
from the carrying amount of the relevant asset in
the consolidated statement of financial position and
transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational
basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants related to income that are receivable
as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred
or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support
to the Group with no future related costs are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable. Such grants are presented inder “other
income”.

For the year ended 31 March 2021
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BE-_Z-_—F=A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATION FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continueq)

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme,
are recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense
unless another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion

of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, and annual leave) after

deducting any amount already paid.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HE-Z-_—F=A=1+—HILFE

3.  BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATION FINANCIAL 3. MAUGAUBGRZEERE
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES EEHHEE)
(Continueq)
Share-based payments LURGBEBZ(T5
Equity-settled share-based payments transactions URAGEZUROGRER 2
RIRXS
Shares options granted to employees [AIE B 131 BB AR 1

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
others providing similar services are measure at fair value
of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based
payments determined at the grant date without taking
into consideration all non-market vesting conditions is
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
based on the Group’s estimate of equity instruments
that will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase
in equity (share-based payments reserve). At the end
of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimate
of the number of equity instruments expected to vest
based on assessment of all relevant non-market vesting
conditions. The impact of the revision of the original
estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that
the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with
a corresponding adjustment to the share-based payments
reserve. For share options that vest immediately at the
date of grant, the fair value of the share options granted
is expensed immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share-based payment reserve will be
transferred to share premium. When the share options
are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised
at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised
in share-based payment reserve will be transferred to
retained profits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HE-_Z-_—F=A=1+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATION FINANCIAL 3. RBGZAMBHERZEERE
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES EETHEE)
(Continueq)

Share-based payments (Continued)

Equity-settled share-based payments transactions
(Continued)

Share options granted to non-employees

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with
parties other than employees are measured at the fair
value of the goods or services received, except where
that the fair value cannot be estimated reliably, in which
case they are measured at the fair value of the equity
instruments granted, measured at the date the entity
obtains the goods or the counterparty renders the
service. The fair values of the goods or services received
are recognised as expenses (unless the goods or services
qualify for recognition as assets).

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit before taxation
as reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income because of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of each reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HE-Z-_—F=A=1+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATION FINANCIAL 3. RBGZAMBHRZEERTE
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES EETHEE)
(Continueq)
Taxation (Continueq) HHEE)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax base used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred
tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither
the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with interests in
subsidiaries and associates, except where the Group is
able to control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated
with such investments and interest are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in
the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HE-_Z-_—F=A=1+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATION FINANCIAL 3. RBGZAMBHERZEERE
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES EETHEE)
(Continueq)
Taxation (Continueq) HHEE)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of each reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of each
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to
the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions
are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies
HKAS 12 “Income Taxes” requirements to the leasing
transaction as a whole. Temporary differences relating to
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are assessed on a
net basis. Excess of depreciation on right-of-use assets
over the lease payments for the principal portion of lease
liabilities resulting in net deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the
same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in Note 3, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Provision of ECL for trade receivables

The management of the Group calculates ECL for the trade
receivables, which is assessed individually for significant
trade debtors and collectively for remaining trade debtors.
The provision rates applied are estimated using the historical
observed default rates of the debtors taking into consideration
forward-looking information that is reasonably and supportably
available without undue costs or effort. At the end of the
reporting period, these historical loss rates are reassessed
and updated if required after considering the forward-looking
information then available to the directors of the Company.
The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL and the Group’s trade receivables
are disclosed in Notes 19 and 28. The net carrying amount
of trade receivables at 31 March 2021 for the Group are
HK$68,734,000 (2020: HK$48,753,000).

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HE-Z-_—F=A=1+—HILFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2021

HE—_T——

F=ZA=+—BLFE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continuea)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-
line basis over their estimated useful lives, after taking into
account their estimated residual values. The Group assesses
annually the residual values and the useful lives of the property,
plant and equipment. If the expectation differs from the original
estimate, such difference will impact the depreciation charge
in the period in which such estimate is changed and in future
periods. As at 31 March 2021, the carrying amounts of the
Group's property, plant and equipment are HK$81,244,000
(2020: HK$72,755,000), net of accumulated depreciation of
HK$22,752,000 (2020: HK$19,248,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Revenue represents revenue arising from provision of vessel
chartering and related services and ship management
Services.

Information reported to the executive director of the Company,
Mr. Wen, being the chief operating decision maker (the
“CODM”) of the Group, for the purposes of resource allocation
and assessment of segment performance focuses on types
of service provided. The Group’s operating segments are
classified as (i) Vessel chartering and related services and
(i) Ship management services. The details of the Group’s
operating segments are as follows:

(i) Vessel chartering The Group provides vessel chartering
and related services mainly to contractors for
Services: construction projects in Hong Kong,
including time chartering representing

the hiring of vessel and crew for a

specific period of time and voyage

chartering representing the hiring of

vessel and crew for a specific voyage

between two designated locations.

(i) Ship management  The Group provides ship management
services: services for two vessels which
transport the dewatered sludge
from Stonecutters Island and other
designated sites to the sludge
treatment facilities located at Nim Wan,
Tuen Mun. The Group is responsible
for the provision of crew members
for daily operation and the repair and
maintenance services.

These operating segments also represent the Group’s
reportable segments. No operating segments identified by
the CODM have been aggregated in arriving at the reportable
segments of the Group.

For the year ended 31 March 2021
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Yun Lee Marine Group Holdings Limited JE#/g =& @B R AR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMEHRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BE_Z-_—F=-A=t+—HItFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. WMARZEHER &)
Segment revenues and results SEBUR AR A
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results NTAREKEZHDHEIDHARE
by operating are reportable segments: B ARFEEDT :

Year ended 31 March 2021 BE_E_—F=F=+—HIFE
Vessel
chartering Ship
and related management
services services Total
MMEER
HERYE MHEETERE st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHxT FET FExT
SEGMENT REVENUE 2 EBUA
External revenue HNERUT A 200,850 25,344 226,194
Segment profit 8 ) 46,553 11,339 57,892
Share of results of associates D {EHF & A B4 (32)
Other income E U A 10,743
Other gains and losses H bk K Eia 3,685
Administrative expenses B (36,793)
Finance costs FhE A (70)
Profit before taxation B B A1 ) 35,425



5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BE-_ZT-_—F=A=1+—HIEFE

5. WARZEEH &)

Year ended 31 March 2020 B2 _FE_FTF=H=1+—HIFE
Vessel
chartering Ship
and related management
services services Total
MMEER
R MHEERS gact
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET
SEGMENT REVENUE 2 ZBUL A
External revenue HNEBUTA 177,194 25,224 202,418
Segment profit 73 26 ) 42814 8,794 51,608
Share of results of associates D {hEEE A R4S 1,556
Other income E U A 1,904
Other gains and losses H s K &8 2,801
Administrative expenses B (44,492)
Finance costs EhE A (95)
Profit before taxation B % BT 4 K 13,282
The accounting policies of the operating segments are D R B E R BB 5 3 ATt

the same as the Group’s accounting policies described in
Note 3. Segment profit represents the profit before taxation

AEBEEBRAR o 2 8B F
%ﬁ%ﬁﬁéﬁﬁxﬁﬂfﬁﬁﬁiﬁéﬂ i

earned by each segment without allocation of share of BOBROMEEERRIFES - HM

results of associates, other income, other gains and losses,
administrative expenses and finance costs. This is the
measure reported to the CODM of the Group for the purposes
of resource allocation and performance assessment.

Except as disclosed above, no other amounts are regularly
provided to the CODM of the Group and therefore, no further

analysis is presented.

A BB RER  TREZR
RARE - WHRERHMERSR
ST 28 T A B E BAERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2021

HE-ZT—

—F=A=+—HILFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

No analysis of segment assets or segment liabilities is
presented as they are not regularly provided to the CODM
of the Group on making decision for resource allocation and
performance assessment.

The Group recognises revenue from the following major
sources:

@)

Vessel chartering and related services

The Group provides vessel chartering services mainly
to contractors for construction projects in Hong Kong,
including time chartering representing the hiring of
vessel and crew for a specific period of time and voyage
chartering representing the hiring of vessel and crew for
a specific voyage between two designated locations. The
Group recognises the fee received or receivable as its
revenue over time in the period in which the customers
simultaneously receive and consume the benefits
provided by the Group’s performance as services are
performed by the Group.

Ship management services

The Group provides ship management services for two
vessels which transport the dewatered sludge from
Stonecutters Island and other designated sites to the
sludge treatment facilities located at Nim Wan, Tuen Mun.
The Group recognises the fee received or receivable as
its revenue over time in the period in which the customers
simultaneously receive and consume the benefits
provided by the Group’s performance as services are
performed by the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continuea)

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue from its
major Services:

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BE-_ZT-_—F=A=1+—HIEFE

AR S EBER (&)

AT RREAANEEEEIRBE WA
DT

2021 2020

—E-—F —E-EF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FExT FBT

Vessel chartering and related services — MFATE S M 4878 AR5 200,850 177,194
Ship management services MM E RS 25,344 25,224
226,194 202,418

For contracts for vessel chartering and related services and
ship management services, the Group bills for each period of
service provided.

Payment of the transaction price is generally due within 30 to
60 days. All unsatisfied vessel chartering and related services
and ship management services contracts are for periods
of less than one year. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the
transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not
disclosed.

As all the Group’s revenue is derived from customers located
in Hong Kong and all the Group’s identifiable non-current
assets are principally located in Hong Kong, no geographical
segment information is presented.
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Yun Lee Marine Group Holdings Limited JE#/g =& @B R AR
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMEmRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BE_Z-_—F=-A=t+—HItFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5 WARSEHBERZ)
Information about major customers EREEEFNER
Revenue from customers of the corresponding years RERFEEREEFPIMAMGAEE
contributing over 10% of the Group’s revenue are as follows: WAKBE10% HERET :

2021 2020
Sl -
HK$’000 HK$’000
TFHT FHT

Customer A’ B 43,342 54,946
Customer B! BE1 25,925 28,671
Customer C? PR 25,284 25,224
Customer D' BRET N/A 38 2 23,413
|
L Revenue from vessel chartering services segment ! REMMBEEDBAOYA

2 Revenue from ship management services segment 2 R B A AR E IR AR IS 9 EB AV A

8 The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the total 8 AN G AN B AUA 10% BA

revenue of the Group

6. OTHER INCOME 6. HAUA

2021 2020
el —%-%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FET

Interest income from banks RITHEMWA 611 1,055
Management fee income ERBRIA 360 360
Government subsidies BT 7 B 8,731 -
Others =) 1,041 489
10,743 1,904
|
During the current year, the Group recognised the government RAFEHMBE AEEERAK
grants of HK$8,731,000 in respect of Covid-19-related FF Bt Covid-1948 78 4 B4 FT &% 2
subsidies, of which HK$8,322,000 relates to Employment 8,731,000/ 7t * H #8,322,000
Support Scheme (“ESS”) provided by the Hong Kong BITEBBRTRENRSETE

Government. (MRFZETEIERE -
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eI IRRMIGE

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HE-_ZT-—F=A=t+—HIFE

OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 7. Hihigzs

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-FE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FERT

Gain on disposal of property, HEME  BER
plant and equipment Bl 3,687 2,676
Net exchange (loss) gain P& H e (B8 ) ) F 58 2 125
3,685 2,801
|
IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER EXPECTED CREDIT LOSS, NET OF 8. FAHEEBBEETHRER
REVERSAL 15 RBEIEEE

2021 2020
et bl _—T_TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
TET TET

Impairment loss recognised on: REBEERR

— trade receivables — & 5 EWRFIE 2,350 =
|
Details on impairment assessment are set out in Note 28. BB EN G 2 FBHAMN 28 o
FINANCE COSTS 9. BMBEREF

2021 2020
et bl —T_TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET

Interest on lease liabilities HEAERNS 70 95
1



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e EmREE

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BE-_Z-_—F=A=+—HILFE

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSES

10. FriS#HiBAX

2021 2020
—E-—F —E_THF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FBT FBxT
Hong Kong Profits Tax BEENEFH
— current year —KRFEE 4,142 1,406
— overprovision in prior years —BAFEEERE (66) (174)
4,076 1,232
Deferred tax (Note 24): BEERIA(FIFE24) ¢
Current year REE 1,256 839
5,332 2,071

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed
The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “BIill”)
which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The
Bill was signed into law on 28 March 2018 and was gazetted
on the following day. Under the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying
group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2
million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities
not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will
continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

RZZE-NF=A=Z+—RH &#
MEEEE T FRBKUERT)
(B7R)GEPIERNTEHIER])
SIAMBFH AR o ERPIERN =
E-NF=Z=A-+NHEEEK
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Continued)

The income tax expenses for year can be reconciled to the
profit before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

e mRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HE_Z-_—F=A=+—HIFE

10. FREHFEZ#E)
FANMEHAEXEEE B RE
it 2 TH W 58 5% PO B 5 A
T

2021
—E-—=F
HK$’000
THERT

—g-%
HK$’000
FHT

Profit before taxation BRA B E A 35,425 13,282
Tax at Hong Kong Profits Tax rate BREBNERTE16.5%

of 16.5% STERHIEA 5,845 2,192
Tax effect of share of results of associates Gk A R E BN RGBT E 5 (257)
Tax effect of income not taxable AR AN B2

for tax purposes (2,150) (636)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible PRI A BB 2

for tax purposes 1,923 1,191
Overprovision in prior years i@&ifgﬁgﬁﬁéﬁ (66) (174)
One-off tax deduction of profits tax R BH— K EFIEFIRE

by Inland Revenue Department (60) (80)
Tax effect of two-tiered profits 1S5 /A A% ) e B 7S o 22

tax rate regime (165) (165)
Income tax expenses FrisfiF Xt 5,332 2,071
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2021
BE-_Z-_—F=A=1T—HILFE

11. PROFIT AND TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 1. FREFREZEIRSHAE

2021 2020
—2 = —F [ttt
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET

Profit and total comprehensive income £ A% K| & & T UK %5 48 58 TS
for the year has been arrived at AR IA TS IHERSE -
after charging:

Staff costs, including directors’ BIA(BEESHE)

remuneration (Note 12) (F3zE12)

— Salaries and other allowances —$r M H Ah)EEh 79,972 65,905

- Retirement benefit —RIREFIFT B K

scheme contributions 2,593 2,042

Total staff costs 488 TR AR 82,565 67,947
Depreciation of property, M - WENREBTE

plant and equipment 5,778 4,251
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERE 2,209 2,156
Auditor’s remuneration Z AN & 1,320 1,400
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e mRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HE-_ZT-—F=A=t+—HIFE

12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS ~ 12. % * FETHRAERESHE

(a) Directors and the chief executive a EERIETHAE
Details of the emoluments paid or payable by the entities FANERAEENERBRAES
comprising the Group to the directors and the chief RAEBXETHRABERMK
executive of the Group during the year are as follows: ERBMEEFEIT -

Retirement
Salaries benefit
and other Discretionary scheme
Fees allowances bonus contributions Total

FER BIKEN
e Hir=gh RfRTEA B e @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
TiEn TiEn TiEn TR TiEn

For the year ended BE-Z-—-F
31 March 2021 =ZA=t—H
HEE
Executive directors: HITEE
Mr. Wen (Note) B (M EE) 2,160 287 1,380 - 3,827
Ms. Chan (Note) PR A (HP3E) 1,920 287 1,380 - 3,587
Independent non-executive B IFHITEF ¢
directors:
Mr. Wu Tai Cheung ARFLAE 240 - - - 240
Mr. Fu Bradley BEELE 240 - - - 240
Mr. Liu Hon Por Francis BERLE 240 - - - 240

4,800 574 2,760 = 8,134
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2021
BE_Z-_—F=-A=t+—HItFE

12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

12. E% - FETHAERESHE

(Continued) (&)
(a) Directors and the chief executive (Continued) a) EERIFBTBAEE)
Retirement
Salaries benefit
and other Discretionary scheme
Fees allowances bonus contributions Total
FER RIKER
we Hit2 R B HE 8 EH)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TAR TER
For the year ended BE-2-%F
31 March 2020 =H=+-H
LLFE
Executive directors: WITES:
Mr. Wen (Note) B (HEE) 2,160 287 1,800 - 4,247
Ms. Chan (Note) PR+ (BIsE) 1,920 287 1,800 - 4,007
Independent non-executive B IFFHITESE -
directors:
Mr. Wu Tai Cheung BARLE 240 - - - 240
Mr. Fu Bradley HEELLE 240 - - - 240
Mr. Liu Hon Por Francis BERLE 240 - - - 240
4,800 574 3,600 = 8,974

Note: Mr. Wen and Ms. Chan are entitled to bonus payments which are
determined based on the Group’s performance for the year.

MiE : RAEERRE T HRBIIELA - ZIE
MTRBAREFAZRAERE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS
(Continued)

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were
for their services in connection with the management of
the affairs of the Group during the year. Mr. Wen is also
the chief executive of the Group and his emoluments
disclosed above included those for services rendered by
him as the chief executive.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments
shown above were for their services as directors of the
Company.

There was no arrangement under which a director of the
Company or the chief executive of the Group waived or
agreed to waive any remuneration during both years.

The five highest paid employees of the Group included 2
directors (2020: 2 directors) of the Company during the
year, whose emoluments are included in the disclosure
above. Details of the emoluments for the year of the
remaining 3 (2020: 3) highest paid employees who are
neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are
as follows:

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BE-_ZT-_—F=A=1+—HIEFE

12. EE - FETHAERESHE

EXRTRHTESTHIME o5
ERERNEEAKRESEHRM
M RBE M o REETRAAR
SEMITHAS  MEREX
BEAOMES S R EERITHRE
PR S A AR

EXFTRB LI 1T E F A B
TR EERRNRREFREMH
E AR A T ST AT e

M EF R AL ER] LERAR
AEEXARBIBZITHAR
MELREREEMHESOLR
B

FA - AEENER RS
BEEREARTMEBESR(ZF
“TF MEEE) HMEH
REXHEER - f N =%R(=
T_TF ZR)FARAEF
FEEBTHRABNRRDHHE
Bwyim T

2021 2020

—g——g [ttt

HK$’000 HK$’000

FH T FExT

Salaries and other allowances e M E 2R 2,990 2,971
Retirement benefits scheme contributions R /RIE K 51 21 3% 54 36

3,044 3,007




Yun Lee Marine Group Holdings Limited JE#/g =& @B R AR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMEHRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BE-_Z-_—F=A=1T—HILFE

12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS
(Continueq)
(b) Employees (Continued)
The emoluments of these employees were within the
following bands:

12. E% - FETHAERESHE

(%)
() EE(E)
ZERERENMENTUATEHE :

Number of employees

13. DIVIDENDS

Not exceeding HK$1,000,000 838 1,000,000 7% 7T 2 2
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 BT E
2,000,000 % 7T 1 1

FRAEEAERARAE
EYAEEETETHRABHA
SE T AR SH A B
SERRSIREMARNEE K
ANAZR 52 | s O 3 B =l 1 A B
Bim(E

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group
to the directors of the Company or the chief executive of
the Group or the five highest paid individuals of the Group
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.

13. KRB

2021 2020

=t PN —ToEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT Tz

FRABRS/D KA QR EE

Dividends for ordinary shareholders

of the Company recognised as AR AR R AR 2.
distribution during the year:
2020 Final - HKO.5 cents (2020: nil) —E-TFRE-0.581
—EERFF) 5,000 —

RIMEHRR - ARREFDRE
REBE_T_—F=—A=t—HL
FREERMRHERESREBBR1.3
BI(ZZE_FF:0581) &

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a final dividend
in respect of the year ended 31 March 2021 of HK1.3 cents
(2020: HKO.5 cents) per ordinary shares, in an aggregate
amount of HK$13,000,000 (2020: HK$5,000,000), has been
proposed by the directors of the Company and is subject 13,000,000 T(Z T = F F -
to approval by the shareholders in the forthcoming general 5,000,000/ 70 ) + W/ARFAR R A FE
meeting. ERRAFRE EHER - FEE

=

B8 °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eI IRRMIGE

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HE_Z-_—F=A=+—HIFE

14. EARNINGS PER SHARE 14. BRER
The calculation of the basic earnings per share attributable to RRRHEAEANEBEEREARRBT T
owners of the Company is based on the following data: BRIBEA T 8B E -

Earnings: BN
Profit for the year attributable to owners AT EEREARBN S
of the Company for purpose of AAFIHAEANEEEE
basic earnings per share (HK$’000) A (FHTT) 25,020 9,700
Number of shares: BROEAE :
Weighted average number of A EEREABNME
ordinary shares for the purpose of AR hniE I 8K
basic earnings per share (in thousand) (Fi%) 1,000,000 1,000,000

No diluted earnings per share is presented for both years as MR EBTEELBR - I &
there was no potential ordinary share in issue. IREFTFEE2YSREFTRT -



Yun Lee Marine Group Holdings Limited JE#/g =& @B R AR
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMEmRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BE_Z-_—F=-A=t+—HItFE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. Y% - BMERR

Machinery Furniture
Leasehold and and Motor
Vessels improvement  equipment fixtures vehicles Total

h HEXE BHERRE  HARKE AE et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TR TR B TR ThR ThR
CcosT S
At 1 Apr 2019 RZE-NERA-A 39,152 1228 7 o76 1,753 43881
Adattions g 2133 - 1510 9 1126 23980
Acquired on acquisition WENBARAKE
of a subsioliary 25,875 = 166 = = 26,041
Disposals & (1,600) = = = (299 (1,899)
At 31 March 2020 RZF-FF=R=1-H 84,762 1228 2448 985 2580 92,003
Adattions TE 14,600 - 858 3 - 15,461
Disposals i3 (3,468) - - - - (3.469)
At 31 March 2021 R-B--£=R=t1-R 95,804 1,228 3,306 988 2580 103,996
DEPRECIATION g
At 1 Apr 2019 RZE-NERA-A 13,079 1,038 346 748 1320 16,531
Provided for the year FRiE 3282 100 344 ) 433 451
Eliminated on disposals (L E R (1,235) - - - (299) (1,53)
At 31 March 2020 R_E-FE=f=1-H 15,126 1,138 690 840 1454 19248
Provided for the year ERfh 4674 70 642 71 21 5778
Elminated on disposals (H E R (.27 - - - - (2274
At 31 March 2021 R-2--§=B=t-H 17,52 1,208 1,332 911 1,775 2,752
CARRYING VALUES BEE
At 31 March 2021 R-B--£=R=1-R 78,368 20 1974 m 805 81,244
At 31 March 2020 R-F-FF=f=1-H 69,636 0 1,758 145 1126 72,755



15.

16.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eI IRRMIGE

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HE-_ZT-—F=A=t+—HIFE

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 15. W% - MERREE)
The above items of property, plant and equipment are FatmE - BERZEER HKE
depreciated, taking into account their estimated residual RESHNMHGTFRABEERAESRE
values, on a straight-line basis and at the following rates per ETEFRETE -
annum:
Vessels 5% ik 5%
Leasehold improvement Over the shorter of the term HERE RHEEFH(E

of lease, or 20% BRREAME) -

532 20%

Machinery and equipment ~ 20% X ISE 20%
Furniture and fixtures 20% ERREE 20%
Motor vehicles 20% TEE 20%
During the year, deposit paid for acquisition of property, plant FA REEDE  BELKREE
and equipment represents deposits paid for acquisition of Nize B ERRNE ke -
vessels.
RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 16. FHEEE

Leased
properties Carpark Total
HEWE FEI5 st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FE T FHET FET
At 31 March 2020 R-E-ZEF=H=+—H
Carrying amount BRTE(E 1,669 67 1,736
At 31 March 2021 W-_E_—F=HA=+—H
Carrying amount BREE 2,858 108 2,966
For the year ended BE-_ZT-ZTF=-H
31 March 2020 =+—HILFE
Depreciation charge nEER 2,019 137 2,156
For the year ended 2T —F=AH
31 March 2021 =+—HLFE
Depreciation charge WEER 2,070 139 2,209
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMEHRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021

HE-ZT——

16.

17.

F=A=T—HLEFE

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued) 16. FRHEEE#)

2021 2020
—¥_——F g St 3.5
HK$’000 HK$’000
TR FET

Total cash outflow for leases HERe R &5 2,274 2,246
Additions to right-of-use assets NEF AR éEF 3,439 843
|
The above items of right-of-use depreciated on a straight-line FiEREEERBREMREEE
basis over the following period: R THIEARIETHRITE -
Lease properties 1 -2 years HEYWE 15:24F
Carpark 1 -2 years =85 1224
For both years, the Group leases various leased properties RREFE  AEBAHELHE
and carpark for its operations. Lease contracts are entered ZEEEMERESRS - HESH
into for fixed term of one to two years. Lease terms are RIZ2FEIFEME - HEBRKIIIE
negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of BRI EEETER - 28 8ETR
different terms and conditions. T6RTR B AR o
INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 17. REBEARINRERS

2021 2020
—¥——F g et 35
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTERT TR

Unlisted investments: FELEMEE -
Cost of investments & & A 1,727 1,727
Share of post-acquisition profits Db W EE 1% 5% T 4,462 4,494
Group’s share of net assets REBED(REBE R
of associates K& EFE 6,189 6,221
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)
Details of each of the Group’s associates at the end of the
reporting period are as follow:

Place of
establishment/

Name of entity operation

e mRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HE_Z-_—F=A=+—HIFE

MBS QSRR ()
RIS AKE DR
BB -

Proportion of ownership
interest and voting rights
held by the Group

Principal activities

AEBAFANEREER

BERAE R b B

Scenic Shipping Company  Hong Kong 20.0%
Limited (“Scenic Shipping”)

AN AR AR B
(TERRS M5 1)

Eastlink Marine Hong Kong 40.0%

RUEE E

Yun Lee (Tim Kee) Marine Hong Kong 17.0%
Construction Limited (Note)
(“YLTK?)

BRRR)BELIRBRAR &E (PaE)

( EFRC] )

KRR RELL A

FTERK
2020

—g-%%

20.0% Inactive

2T

40.0% Provision of vessel chartering
and related services
RAEMATE & RAEE RS

N/A Provision of construction
services

TER REZERS

Note: The Group is entitled to appoint up to and has appointed 1 out of 4
directors to the board of directors of this entity as at 31 March 2021.
Hence, in the opinion of the Directors of the Company, the Group has
significant influence over the entity. Accordingly, the entity is accounted
for a 17% owned associate of the Group.

Summarised financial information of the associates

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s
associates is set out below. The summarised financial
information below represents the financial information of
the associates prepared in accordance with the significant
accounting policies of the Group.

The associates are accounted for using the equity method in
these consolidated financial statements.

M R_T-_—F=ZF=+—8" A&
EERZTZERESQI4RESY
* x %1% WEFHEBEE - B

CARRARIEERE  AKEYHZE
W%EE YEN MZEEARA
RNEBEHE 17% HERENBE QT

FEATNMBERBIE
AEENBERARNYHERME
FER I > TXHIOPHER
EHEBRBEASEEZ S BRAR
ML RN R EER -

B 2
Eal

%

NARBEDENZEEAY
RAARR °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMEHRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BE_Z-_—F=-A=t+—HItFE

17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continuea)

Summarised financial information of the associates (Continuead)

Scenic Shipping

17. REtEQTNERSZ)
BEQATNBBERBE (&)
B [ A T

2021 2020
—E-—F —ECEE
HK$’000 HK$’000
TET FTET

Current assets

mBEE

12,497

Current liabilities

mEBIE - (65)

2021 2020
—E-—F —ECEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
TET TET

Revenue

YA - —

Loss and total comprehensive expense FEEE L2 E X H A%

for the year

(1,951) —

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information
to the carrying amount of the interest in Scenic Shipping

/

LR BERNBE BN R A MR
R HER A B M S ZE*E@EE{EE’JE

recognised in the consolidated financial statements: ik :

2021 2020
—EZ-F —ECEH
HK$°000 HK$°000
FHET THERT

Net assets of Scenic Shipping AN EEFE 10,481 12,432
Proportion of the Group’s ownership REERBA B

interest in Scenic Shipping R R 20.0% 20.0%
Carrying amount of the Group’s AEEN A BMER

interest in Scenic Shipping = REE 2,096 2,486
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eI IRRMIGE

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HE-_ZT-—F=A=t+—HIFE

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 17. REERATIRERE ()
Summarised financial information of the associates (Continued) BMEATRNMBEERBEE)

Eastlink Marine EEE

2021 2020
—EBE-—F —ECEE
HK$’000 HK$’000
TET TET

Current assets RBEE 4,044 4,629
Non-current assets JERENEE 7,322 13,591
Current liabilities mENBE (1,133) (8,882)

2021 2020
—B_—F —ECEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET

Revenue WA 5,372 8,419

Profit and total comprehensive income — F &% 7| 2 2 T W 25 4258

for the year 896 3,891
|

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information LB ER S E RN G S B R
to the carrying amount of the interest in Eastlink Marine RERNEM B EEREEENY
recognised in the consolidated financial statements: ik :

2021 2020
—®_—F —ECEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET

Net assets of Eastlink Marine RBENEERE 10,233 9,338
Proportion of the Group’s ownership REBREMMEERD

interest in Eastlink Marine WA R L1 40.0% 40.0%
Carrying amount of the Group’s AEBREMEER

interest in Eastlink Marine HEmAREE 4,093 3,735



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2021

HE-_Z-_—F=A=1+—HItFE
18. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSET 18. Hiti3ERENEE
During the current year, the Group acquire a club membership RAFEHE ~NEERE-—ER
amounted to HK$3,100,000 (2020: nil). £(3,100,000 8 TR LT e (=
T_TF:F)o
19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 19. E5RH{EWRRIE
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-EF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHxT FExT
Trade receivables B 5 WA
— Third party —z= 53,238 48,753
— An associate —HE R A] 17,846 —
71,084 48,753
Less: Allowance of credit loss W EEERRE (2,350) —
68,734 48,753
Other receivables e R IR
— Prepayments — B RIAE 4,139 3,697
— Deposits — %% 1,958 343
— Rental deposits —HE%e 492 365
— Others —HAth 3 214
Sub total /NEE 75,326 53,372
Less: Rental deposits shown B RIEMENEEIR T YR
under non-current asset HEZe (492) (365)
Amounts shown under current assets PRI EEIE Ny RA &5 74,834 53,007

At 1 April 2019, trade receivables from contracts with

customers amounted to HK$47,531,000.

The Group allows a credit period of 30 to 90 days (2020: 30 to

60 days) to its trade customers.

Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the
potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by
customers. Credit limits attributed to customers and credit
term granted to customers are reviewed regularly. The majority
of the Group’s trade receivables are not past due as at the

reporting date.

F‘“-jlﬁ@ﬂ-ﬁ KEEP
B HHE HEWSKIA R 47,531,000
/%7'5"

AEEERETFTEESEFNEESHN
T30HEQH(ZZE-_Z4 :30H
Z60RH) o

REMEMHZSN - AEERT
ERERFHEEAEREREF
m%%% N8 HRE B AR

HEEBRETEPREES -
SREA A B SRR
AR -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables net of
allowance for credit losses presented based on the invoice
date at the end of the reporting period:

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BE-_ZT-_—F=A=1+—HIEFE

B REMEWREE)
REBRSHRREHXZAHZ7IW
BHRYFRINGEEBRRE)
HRRE DT ¢

2021 2020

—E-—F —E-EE

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

Within 30 days 30 KA 34,100 17,534
31 to 60 days 31 260K 15,499 14,993
61 to 90 days 61 290K 10,176 11,502
91 to 120 days 91 120K 5,416 4,209
Over 120 days BiE 120K 3,543 515
68,734 48,753

As at 31 March 2021, included in the Group’s trade
receivables balance are debtors with aggregate carrying
amount of HK$30,391,000 (2020: HK$26,791,000) which
are past due as at the reporting date. Out of the past due
balances, HK$3,207,000 (2020: HK$515,000) has been
past due 90 days or more and is not considered as in default
based on good repayment records for these customers and
continuous business with the Group. The Group does not hold
any collateral over these balances.

RNRZEZ—FE=A=+—H8" ' &
SEMNESEBRELERBRER
T 42 {8 430,391,000/ (=& —
T 4F : 26,791,0007% 7T ) # FE U BR
FoRBEBHE A - BEHAL
g 13,207,000/ T(ZE - F
£ : 515,000 7T ) B % Hi90 X =k
NE - HERBERZFHRTEN
SRR EAREEREETESMT
FWEREN - AEBLEREH
ERFEEAEER -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HE-_Z-_—F=A=1+—HItFE

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) 19. ESREMBUKRIEE)

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for ECL
for trade receivables. Trade receivables are assessed individually
for significant trade debtors and collectively for remaining
trade debtors for impairment allowance based on the historical
credit losses experience, adjusted for factors that are specific
to the debtors and general economic conditions at the end of
each reporting period, including time value of money where
appropriate.

The Group rebutted the presumption of default under ECL
model for trade receivables over 90 days past due. The
directors of the Company are in the view that there have
been no significant increase in credit risk nor default because
these customers have good repayment records and have
continuous business with the Group. The assessment is
regularly reviewed by the management of the Group to ensure
relevant information about specific debtors is updated.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other
receivables are set out in Note 28.

AEBRABETARE 5 R
HRBHEEERE - BEHREK
AREBEEE B IREE R E R
BIRERE HEB AEE GGG R
B TNESEHB ARG - A
RERSHREBEHEAREEBLE
RA(BEeENREER)(WE
RBRNBERRELHAE -

AEBEHEBEYEBO0ANES
EMFEAREREEHRELTH
BHOBR - ARAEFERR EE
BRORBREEABEM  RESZ
EEFABRERCHZIELE
BEREXBEKR - RN EHN
SEEEEE R BRESH
FRRFE BB ANKIARER -

B 5 N E Ath & Y FR T8 B s B 5T (d 5
I5E I AKIEE28 ©



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

20. AMOUNTS DUE FROM (T0) ASSOCIATES/A NON-CONTROLLING

2l.

SHAREHOLDER OF A SUBSIDIARY

The amount due from an associate as at 31 March 2020 was
non-trade in nature, unsecured, non-interest bearing and
repayable on demand.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 28.

The amount of HK$359,000 (2020: HK$565,000) due to
Eastlink Marine, which is trade nature with an ageing within
30 days, unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable
according to the credit term, the remaining balances as at 31
March 2021 are non-trade nature, unsecured, non-interest
bearing and repayable on demand.

The amount due to a non-controlling shareholder of a
subsidiary as at 31 March 2021 is non-trade in nature,
unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.

RESTRICTED DEPOSITS/TIME DEPOSITS/BANK BALANCES AND
CASH

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had restricted cash
placed with a bank of approximately HK$2,303,000 for the
performance bond issued by the bank in favour of provision of
vessel chartering and related service to one customer.

Bank balances carried interest at prevailing market banking
deposit rates which is 0.01% (2020: ranges from 0.01% to
0.90%) per annum as at 31 March 2021.

Time deposits carried interest at fixed-rate which ranges from
0.01% to 2.05% (2020: 1.10% to 2.30%) per annum as at 31
March 2021.

Details of impairment assessment of bank balances and time
deposits are set out in Note 28.

20.

21.

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HE-Z-_—F=A=1+—HILFE

B (EMR)BELQTHERQ
GIE 22T e
N—_E-_TF=HA=+—H" Bl
—HBE R A RIEBIEEZEE -
mIRR . 2B RARERER -

ERHE R F B E N RE 28 -

JE S SR A8 = R 88359,00078 T(—
T T F : 565,000% 7T ) B FKIE B
BHMHE  RIREOANRN - RER
H REREREEHEE K-
T —F=-A=+t—BZH KA
BIEZMHE - BEH  RENA
BMBREE -

R-_E-_—F=ZA=+—8 " ER
WMEBARIEIZERBRERIEEIEES
Mg - EmER 2EREAREXE
2 o

ZREER EHER HRIT
ERRRE
R-ZE-_—F=ZA=+—H &%
BEFERRBRITHOZBRHESOR
2,303,000 7T * LTy ERIRITRLA —
ZRFEIREMMAE R ERE R AT
BHRNBHORES -

RITHEBRIRRITMBIRITERF X
R RNZBE-—F=A=+—
B FSMRAE001% (T T4 :
NF0.01% £ 0.90%) °

W_EBE-—F=A=+—H"'F
MEREEEFEHMENF0.01%
ZE205%(ZEZFF :110%E
2.30%)&T 8 °

RITAE R N E R F SRR R E R (A A
TEEIIPPIE28
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMEHRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BE_Z-_—F=-A=t+—HItFE

22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

. B REMEMARE

2021

—E-—F
HK$’000
FTERT

2020

=L
HK$’000

FET

Trade payables =) ANE e 14,570 11,999
Accrued expenses FERTRISZ 7,382 7,002
Deposits received Bl 623 386
Other payables E e IR 6 —
Total trade and other payables B 5 R EMENRIBBEE 22,581 19,387

The credit period of trade payables is from 30 to 60 days from

the invoice date.

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables based on
the invoice date at the end of each reporting period.

2021

—E-—F
HK$’000
FET

BoRNFENERYEEZEH
HEFB0E 60K °

REREHR  REZZEHNE
DR RIENRE DT ©

2020

Ssr
HK$’000

FET

Within 30 days 30 KA 6,404 5,761
31 to 60 days 31 £60X 5,111 5,417
61 to 90 days 61 £ 90K 1,818 710
91 to 120 days 91 120K 637 =
Over 120 days BB 120K 600 111

14,570 11,999
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For the year ended 31 March 2021
HE-_ZT-—F=A=t+—HIFE

23. LEASE LIABILITIES 23. HESE

2021 2020
—Z = —F [ttt
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET

Within one year —F R 1,880 1,537
Within a period of more than one year ~ #BiB—F{E @
but not more than two years Mz IR 1,096 204
2,976 1,741
Less: Amount due for settlement with &, : BBV EE /R 1218 A
12 months shown under WEI B4 I FIE
current liabilities (1,880) (1,537)
Amount due for settlement after EMBEBETATI12EAR
12 months shown under FEREE R RIE
non-current liabilities 1,096 204
|
The weighted average incremental borrowing rate on the BHE_T_—F=-—A=1+—HI*F
Group's lease liabilities was 3.75% during the year ended 31 B AEEZHEES G MEFYS
March 2021 (2020: 3.25%). BEESHNEE3I5%(CE-F

F:3.25%) °
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For the year ended 31 March 2021
BE_Z-_—F=-A=t+—HItFE

24. DEFERRED TAXATION
For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement
of financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities
have been off-set. The following is the analysis of the deferred
tax balances for financial reporting purpose:

24. IRIEFRIE
REAMBRAKREITS B F
EEHBEEERBBEDEY - M
TARPBREM S BEERIELS
HIDHT -

2021 2020
—E-—fF —EEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
TET TET

Deferred tax assets EETIRE = 1,459 912
Deferred tax liabilities EERIBAE (7,432) (5,629)
(5,973) 4,717)

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities (assets)
recognised by the Group and movements thereon during the
current and prior years are as follows:

T R4 E B R 0+ EREH
BEEEE) RERAERRBE
FENNES :

Accelerated

tax

depreciation Tax losses Total
ERIERE BIEEE st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET
At 1 April 2019 RZZE—hFMA—AH 3,878 — 3,878

Charge/(credit) for FRM&%,R%R) (HE10)
the year (Note 10) 5,684 (4,845) 839
At 31 March 2020 RZEZTF=H=+—H 9,562 (4,845) 4,717
Charge for the year (Note 10)  F R (FizE10) 1,097 159 1,256
At 31 March 2021 RZEZ—F=H=+—H 10,659 (4,686) 5,973

At 31 March 2021, the Group has unused tax loss of
HK$28,398,000 (2020: HK$29,365,000) available for
offset against future profits. A deferred tax asset has
been recognised in respect of HK$28,398,000 (2020:
HK$29,365,000) of such losses. The loss may be carried
forward indefinitely.

R-ZZE-_—F=ZA=+—H8" &%
= % A oKk Ep A i 18 &5 18 28,398,000
B (Z T Z & F : 29,365,000

J0) AT AREHER AR - ANEE
B 5t & 8 &5 18 28,398,000/8 Jt(=
T — T 1 29,365,000/ 7T ) #ER
BREFIHEE - BEAEE ] ERH
AP AEEE o



25. SHARE CAPITAL

Ordinary shares of
HK$0.01 each

Authorised
At 1 April 2019, 31 March 2020
and 31 March 2021

Annual Report 2021 &%
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
HE BT MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HE-_ZT-—F=A=t+—HIFE

25. IRA

Number of
shares Shown as

RIEE s EX ]
HK$’000
FET

BFh%0.01 87T
A B A%

EE

R-ZT—NF
mA—H -
—T-oE4E

=A=t—HkK
—E——4F N/A
—A=+—H 5,000,000,000 50,000,000 TE M

Issued and fully paid
At 1 April 2019, 31 March 2020
and 31 March 2021

BRTRAR
R-FE—NF
mA—H -
—E T

ZA=+—H8k
—E-—%F
=A=1+—H 1,000,000,000 10,000,000 10,000



Yun Lee Marine Group Holdings Limited JE#/8 =& @& B R A

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMEHRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BE-_Z-_—F=A=1T—HILFE

26. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

26. B HE

R BmREMB KRN
R BERIAPES > AEEBEE
SMATREB T RS

In addition to the transactions, balances and commitments
disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements,
the Group had entered into the following related party

transactions:

Name of related

companies

ok pNCIR=E

Relationship

B8 1%

Year ended/As at 31 March
BE=-A=1+—-BHLFE
2021 2020
—B-—-F —ECEH
HK$’000 HK$’000
T T

Nature of transactions

RHMHE

Kee Marine Service & Entity over which Management fee income 360 360
Consultant Limited one of the key
management
personnel of the
Group has control
AREBEAERLDA FAEENEP—EIZ EEERKRA
ERABYHZER
BEHIE
Eastlink Marine Associate of the Group Management fee income = 36
RiEE REBE SR T EEERIA
Vessels chartering costs 5,315 8,418
FARiE SR
Metro Key Investment Entity over which Interest expense of lease 5 2
Limited Mr. Wen has control liabilities
CHKRERARANR ALTEHZERAERGE HEEENNSRAX
Lease liabilities 98 224
HEARE
YLTK Associate of the Group Revenue from vessel 18,246 =
chartering and
related services
MR REEKES AT WATE & AR AR TS 0

Y



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

26. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES - CONTINUED

27.

Key management includes directors and senior management.
The remuneration of directors of the Company and other
members of key management of the Group was as follows:

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BE-_ZT-_—F=A=1+—HIEFE

26. BAEEAIRE (&)

FREEERREFTRARER
B ARAEBEERALETIEERE
EHAAK BT -

2021 2020
—z—— [t
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHT
Salaries and other allowances e M E )2 Eh 7,646 7,603
Discretionary bonus BB TEAL 2,760 3,600
Retirement benefit scheme contributions 3R /K48 Fl 5T & 4 5% 18 18
10,424 11,221

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 21. BEAXRERER

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to the shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes net of cash and cash equivalents, lease liabilities and
equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising
share capital and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
on a regular basis. As part of this review, the directors of the
Company consider the cost of capital and the risks associate
with each class of capital. Based on recommendations of the
directors of the Company, the Group will balance its overall
capital structure through the payment of dividends, new share
issues as well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of
existing debts.

4 88 [ IR HL A AR A AR A S 1Y
MEBBEBELE  REEBE
EEBRBATHRTEEERE
B ARENBBERA F—F
DA SRARAS T o

AEENEAREEEERFR -
HEERBEEMNESFEWER
HERBAMKRRABHE ARIGHE
@ (B RREE) -

ARREFRTHMTERNRE - 1F
REZBAN -8B ARBEEE
BEEEAHBENES KA KA
R REBEARRESZNHEBER -
AEEREB MRS - BITHK
AR FETHEHXBERRBERF
BEEBEARE -



Yun Lee Marine Group Holdings Limited JE#/g =& @B R AR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e EmREE

For the year ended 31 March 2021

HE_Z-_—F=fA=+—RHItFE
28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 28. £MTH
(a) Categories of financial instruments a) T AEHR

2021 2020

et pY N T

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FTHEx

Financial assets tREE
Amortised cost - 3[R 158,701 157,036
Financial liabilities TRAaE

Amortised cost BHIHRAR 21,366 14,621

|
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies ) EAEMREEBERBEER

The Group’s major financial instruments include rental AEBNTESMTABER
deposits, trade and other receivables, amount due to a Exe BEHZREMEKK
non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary, amounts due I8 - BB AR IEER
from (to) associates, restricted deposits, time deposits, RERIE - BR(EM)BER
bank balances and cash and trade and other payables AIIE  XBREIFR - EHF
and lease liabilities. Details of these financial instruments o RITEBREBREUARES

are disclosed in respective notes of consolidated financial FHEMEMAFEREERSRE-
statements. The risks associated with certain of these ZESRITHENFBRERE
financial instruments and the policies on how to mitigate BV BHRRBENT - ZES
these risks are set out below. The management manages MTAENETHERR KRG H
and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate BRAR] R > 5% 55 R B O DRSR K B
measures are implemented on a timely and effective MT - EREERREEZSE
manner. Bk BREKEEREREE

R



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Market risk

)

(ii)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate
risk in relation to fixed-rate time deposits and lease
liabilities. The Group is also exposed to cash flow
interest rate risk in relation to variable-rate bank
balances (see Note 21 for details). The Group’s cash
flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on the
fluctuation of interest rates on bank balances. It is
the Group’s policy to keep its borrowings at floating
rate of interests so as to minimise the fair value
interest rate risk.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for variable-
rate bank balances. The analysis is prepared
assuming that the amount of assets at the end of
the reporting period were outstanding for the whole
year. 50 basis point increase or decrease represent
the management’s assessment of the reasonable
possible change in interest rates of bank deposits.

If the interest rates had been 50 basis points higher/
lower and all other variables were held constant,
the potential effect on the Group’s post-tax profit
for each of the year ended 31 March 2021 would
increase/decrease by approximately HK$339,000
(2020: HK$239,000).

Currency risk

The Group has no significant foreign currency risk
as all of the operations of the group entities are
denominated in HK$ which is also the functional
currency of the relevant group entities.

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HE-Z-_—F=A=1+—HILFE

28. @MITH (&)

5 E
(i) FEEE

7K 5 B [ 4 22 (& E A R E
HERkHERBERRD
RFEMERER - AKH
NI Y EL% BARTT 4 R (FF
BRE2HEME21)BREDN
RenEMERRE - A&
B r IR & E N R E
EERRRITEHR N XK
B AKREHNERASKH
fEREREF BRI
BEREQIFEMNXRER -

BRI
B E AT TR B
BRITEBRNF XA R E
E o IMIBRRERE
HREERBEREBFE
EENIIENE E b
A 50 A EF R EIEE
A RITFERFI R A IR
A BEEE B RIS ©

W I S 38 00k 4> 50 A1 2
B ET A E A 2 REFA
2 AEAEEREEC
E-—F=ZA=+—H81
FESFHRBE RN
BEZES R AL, B
1 #7339,000/8 (=T =
T4 : 239,00087T) °

(i) EHmE

HRNEEEEBNMEREE
BLAE TR E > BTG
HESEEERNES
¥ MAKEYES K
P LR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2021

HE—_T——

F=ZA=+—BLFE

28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event
of the counterparties’ failure to perform their obligations
at the end of the reporting period in relation to each class
of recognised financial assets is the carrying amount of
these assets as stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, management
of the Group has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures over the customers to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In
addition, the Group reviews the recoverable amount of
each individual debt at the end of each reporting period
to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made
for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the directors
of the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group has concentration
of credit risk as 26% (2020: 33%) of the total trade
receivables was due from the Group’s largest customer.
The Group’s concentration of credit risk on the top five
largest customers accounted for 71% (2020: 82%). The
management of the Group considered that the credit risk
of amounts due from these customers is insignificant after
considering their historical settlement record and credit
quality.

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for
ECL prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits the use of
the lifetime ECL for trade receivables.

28. #MITH &)

1= B /m i R Bl 1E 7T
HMEFTRERSHRREER
EHEATHEEREERTHE
£ BIARNEEMEENRAE
EREH A RN KB5S M
MRKRAEZEEENIRE
@ o

REAEREEERR A&
EEEEEZRRK—EABRKEE
BETEREFPMEELR 5
EEMNREMERERERF - BR
BREX R A 45 b W @ 8 BB 7S o

goh s AEBREHRE R KRR
A & M8 Bl E 75 7 AT i 3 2 5
HERBL T AT U Bl 2 R IE B 59
BWERE - RILmE - A2a

EERRAKENEERRE
RIgRE D

R—_ZE-_—F=A=+—8"
$$lmﬁEHMK¢ REH
A S REW I B 26% (=
747¢:£%EX§$EI
RARF - AEBEREERR
B71%(ZZE_FF :82%) 5%
FREAREF - AEBEER
BREtrRBrGEREREER
BE% RAEEEBWZEEFR
FIEMEERBRITTERX -

REBERBEL T ENRRE
B BHRELEEIRNRE
IEHEEBRTRERE B
PAFUBREFHAEREES
B E 5 R WK IART IR R R -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

As at 31 March 2021, management assessed the
expected loss on trade receivables (which is measured
at lifetime ECL) with gross carrying amount of
HK$71,084,000 (2020: HK$48,753,000) individually for
significant trade debtors and collectively for remaining
trade debtors by estimation based on historical credit
loss experience, and general economic conditions of the
industry in which the debtors operate at the reporting
date.

In addition, the directors of the Company are of the
opinion that there has no default occurred for trade
receivables past due 90 days and the balances are still
considered fully recoverable due to long term/on-going
relationship and good repayment record from these
customers. Accordingly, HK$2,350,000 (2020: nil) loss
allowance on ECL is recognised during the year.

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HE-Z-_—F=A=1+—HILFE

28. @MITH (&)

= EE R E S (E)
W_E-_—F=A=+—8 "
EREEREAEFIBEBEAME
AFEERBTEZBEBAL
@) 77 {4 BR M 4218 /& 71,084,000
BIL(ZZ =T : 48,753,000
BT E 5 REGIER RS
BB EFHHEREEBE
) FEAREBTEEEIE
KHBRRREAE EHEAE
EBRETENBESEMR R
R o

BEAN - AAREERABE0
HEE 5 R IE I & IR E
W MERZERFERE
BRBENARRITE R
HERNER AR BREKE - &
b FAERBEHEEEBR
IR E 18 52,350,000 L(=
TZTFF)o



Yun Lee Marine Group Holdings Limited JE#/g =& @B R AR
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eI IS IRRMI R

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BE-_Z-_—F=A=1T—HILFE

28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 28. @I HE#)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continueq) ) EEMEEEERBKEE)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment
comprises the following categories:

EEERRAETE(E)
7 8 B B B ST AR e
THIERIAEA :

Internal Other
credit rating Description Trade receivables financial assets
AEBEE TR it ¥ 5 BWFEE HtteMEE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk Lifetime ECL — 12m ECL
of default and does not have any not credit-
significant past-due amounts impaired
iVEN HFERAEENORR  BXYEARE EREAFHEHSHEE 12@ARHEE
BT BE-TEEE BE
B
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due Lifetime ECL — 12m ECL
dates but usually settle in full not credit-
impaired
EREE EBALERIHARRERERTE REFHEHREE 12EABHAEE
BB BRE-TEEE g
AR
Doubtful There have been significant Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL -
increases in credit risk since initial not credit- not credit-
recognition through information impaired impaired
developed internally or external
resources
7 5 BBAMAEERSIBERT EECHESNCE ZESHEHLY
o B RS R R AR BRE-TEEE BE-IEEE
hn BIE AR
Loss There is evidence indicating the Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL -
asset is credit-impaired credit-impaired credit-impaired
B1E EEBETNEEDEGERE REFHEREE BESHBEHEE
BE-EERE BE-EERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the  Amount is written off Lifetime ECL —
debtor is in severe financial difficulty credit-impaired
and the Company has no realistic
prospect of recovery
i sH ERBRTEBARNBRENBA FRIECME REFHEMES

o mMARRE AU EFRIENE
I B

BER—EERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continuead)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the
Group applies internal credit rating for its customers. The
following table provides information about the exposure
to credit risk for trade receivables as at 31 March 2021
which are assessed on collective basis within lifetime
ECL (not credit-impaired). Trade debtors with significant
outstanding balances with gross carrying amount of
HK$48,866,000 are assessed individually.

Gross carrying amount

e mRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HE-_ZT-—F=A=t+—HIFE

28. @MITH (&)

(b)

SEEREEEERBEK (&)
=B 2 f R a B 771 ()

EAAEBEERKRERMN—
o AEBAERXFERNA
HEEFR - TRIEHEBE
SRERKFER-_ZT-_—F=H
S+t HEYEEERRBRNE
B HEREFHEHEES
BAREBEEETGH(LES
ERE) BEBEERNKEEGAR
B8R 4218 4 48,866,000/8 7T
2B SEB AR ERIETE

FRETAEE

2021
—E_—F
Average Trade
Internal credit rating loss rate receivables
A EB 1S B FEAR THERLEE ESZEWRNE
HK$’000
FE T
Individual basis &l 7| B2
— Low risk — KRR 0.9% 8,422
— Watch list —EERRE 3.1% 40,444
Sub-total /NEt 48,866
Collective basis SRAEE
— Low risk — KRk 1.2% 2,385
— Watch list — B E 5.0% 19,833
Sub-total g 22,218
Total 5t 71,084
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMEmRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BE-_Z-_—F=A=1T—HILFE

28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 28. €M T H (&)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continueq) ) LEBEMEEEERBEZE)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continuea) =B R b E S ()
The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL TRETBESETEEHES
that has been recognised for trade receivables under the FE W IR FER A B (B F HATR HR{S
simplified approach. HEEEZE) -
Lifetime ECL
(not credit-
impaired)
BEEFHES
E8EE
(Y EEERE)
HK$’000
FERT
As at 1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020 RZZE-—AFMA—AK =
—ET-TF=A=+—H
Impairment loss recognised on RRENFTEMEE 2,350
new financial assets originated EREREEE
As at 31 March 2021 RZZE-_—$=A=+—H 2,350
|
In determining the ECL for other receivables and rental RETERBEBRLEEG R
deposit (which are measured at 12m ECL) with gross 495,000 m(Z T = & F :
carrying amount of HK$495,000 (2020: HK$579,000) in 579,0007% 7T ) #) H b & I X
aggregate, the management of the Group has taken into BHRHAEREHNTEREEEBR
account the historical default experience and forward- (12 A BB EEBETE)
looking information, as appropriate, for example, the B AREEEECERBM
Group has considered the consistently low historical BAKRERATEEER (R
default rate in connection with payments, and concluded ) - PN AR EZE R FIER
that credit risk inherent in the Group’s outstanding other F—ERFEEHNEX  AMRB
receivables and rental deposit are insignificant. 778 6 B e 2R W B] B L th 8 UK

WERAEZSNEAEER
BREA -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The management of the Group considers the restricted
deposits, time deposits and bank balances (which is
measured at 12m ECL) with gross carrying amount
of HK$89,472,000 (2020: HK$104,433,000) that
are deposited with the financial institutions with high
credit rating to be low credit risk financial assets. The
management of the Group considers the time deposits
and bank balances are short-term in nature and the
probability of default is negligible on the basis of high-
credit-rating issuers, and accordingly, loss allowance was
considered as insignificant.

The Group regularly monitors the business performance of
an associate. The Group’s credit risks in the balance with
the associate is mitigated through the value of the assets
held by the entity and the Group has significant influence
over the relevant activities of the entity. The directors of
the Company believe that there is no significant increase
in credit risk of the amount since initial recognition and the
Group assessed impairment based on 12m ECL. For the
year ended 31 March 2021, the Group assessed the ECL
for the amount due from an associate with gross carrying
amount of nil (2020: HK$3,271,000) was insignificant and
thus no loss allowance was recognised.

Other than the concentration of credit risk on liquid
funds which are deposited with several banks with
gross carrying amounting to HK$89,472,000 (2020:
HK$104,433,000) as at 31 March 2021 with high credit
ratings, the Group does not have any other significant
concentration of credit risk, with exposure spread over a
number of counterparties.

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HE-Z-_—F=A=1+—HILFE

28. @MITH (&)

= EE R E S (E)
AEEEREESREHEER
89,472,000 B L (=T =T F :
104,433,000 L) *+ BFHR
BESEETANSHEREDN
XBREFER - EHFERKRT
Her(R12@ A TEHEEERE
FE)REFERRENSF
5% AEBEERERS %

FEHTERMIRITE R E S H
EE BHRBTAEESE
ES WEOBMEBMTH
WM AREEREERETE
K o

AEBETHERBERRIZE
W%ﬁ AREBHBERRZ
EHRP R :ﬁ LB BB
%%Emgﬁﬁﬁ VAAT 4% -
mAKEBEHZERNIEHEEE
BEBEARXE - ARAIEEFR
B BYIRTER AR z%%
K= BRI &L -
$EIEFQMHE%ET%
BHERE #E_T=—
“A=+—HLFE x£EE
REABEAS(ZEZ2F
3,271,000 % 7T ) &Y & U — e Hsg
ERAFENENEREEE
B AEXR - At EERES
BRE -

KR -_E-_—%=A=+—H
BR M 4 {8 489,472,000 JT
(ZZ T4 : 104,433,000 %
) B ERRZESEETRL
RITHRBESEEETNE
BRI AR EERR D A
REZEFH  MAKELE
EREREFHEERR -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HE-_Z-_—F=A=1+—HItFE

28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 28. @I HE#)

Liguidity risk

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests
with the management, which has built an appropriate
liquidity risk management framework for the management
of the Group’s short, medium and long-term funding and
liquidity requirements. The Group manages liquidity risk
by maintaining adequate reserves and borrowing facilities
and continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash
flows.

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities. The tables have been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on
the earliest date on which the Group can be required to

pay.

REBEZEE

nBETRAREREITHERRE
REBE  WERIEENN
HESREREEER  UER
AEERY FHEERHES
ERBEEHNHR - AKEE
BREERBARERRSR
B MR EENFEERE
FRE - NEERBESER o

TRFHAVAEEHIFTESR
BEMNBRTNEORHAOR - 1t
cEBEHABEBRMRRESNR
ERE HPUARKEAMNK
NP EHRER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continuead)
Liguidity risk (Continuead)
Liquidity and interest risk tables

(b)

e mRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HE-_ZT-—F=A=t+—HIFE

28. E@MT A (#)
EREMEEBERBER(E)
REBELEE(E)
HEBEZRFEEREE

Weighted
average  Ondemand 1 month Total
effective or less than to 3 months 1-5 undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 month 3 months to 1 year years cash flows amount
MEFH RERY, 182 3fEAZ KRR
BRA= HR1{EA 38R 15 1525% REFEAE REE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEx TiEn ThER TR TR TiEx
At 31 March 2021 R-F-—%
=H=F=H
Non-derivative financial FiESHERE
liabilities
Trade and other payables A REMER
FE = 10,932 6,404 - - 17,336 17,336
Amounts due to associates  FERTBEE A
HE - 2,806 - - - 2,396 2,396
Amount due to a B AR
non-controling SRR R
shareholder of a subsidiary - 1,134 - - - 1,134 1,134
Lease liabilties HEaR 375 - 527 1,426 1,116 3,069 2976
14,962 6,931 1,426 1,116 24,435 24342
At 31 March 2020 RZZ2_ZF
=A=t-H
Non-derivative financial FiELHEE
liabilities
Trade and other payables B A REMER
P = 5,761 6,233 = = 11,999 11,999
Amounts due toassociates  FERTBEE A
R = 2,622 = = = 2622 2622
Lease liabilties HERE 325 - 442 1,137 207 1,786 1,741
8,383 6,680 1,137 207 16,407 16,362

Fair value measurements of financial instruments

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities
are determined in accordance with generally accepted
pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis.

The management of the Group considers that the
carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities
recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial
statements approximate their fair values.

(c)

SR TANDFEHNE
TREENEMABNATE
DERBBRBSREDTRIE
RABEBEAERE

AEEEEERS  NEaY
R IR B AR A BR A & R
BEMGRBENREERE
NFHERE °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMEmRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BE-_Z-_—F=A=1T—HILFE

29. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING 29. MERHFIELENEELHER
ACTIVITIES
The tables below details changes in the Group’s liabilities TERALAEEREETDEENE
arising from financing activities, including both cash and non- BEE2H(BERELIREES) -
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are MEEHELENBEABEERES
those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, gk BEREREBRERAE
classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows EMimeReRERIPEAREE
as cash from or used in financing activities: BFSSAMARERENEAE -

Amount

due to

Amount non-controlling
dueto  shareholder Other Accrued Lease
an associate  of a subsidiary payables issue costs liabilities

Ef-&
Eff-# HELT it
BENAME FERRRE  HEENRE RTHA BERE
GLE HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TiEn TiEn TiEn TiEn

At Apri 2010 R-E-hE
mA-A = = = 252 3,049 3,301
Finance cost recognised (Note §) - BERABHHEL &K
(R 9) = = - - % %
New lease entered BHUHE - - - - 843 843
Financing cash flows HERENE 2057 (980) - (252) (2.246) (1,421)
Dividend recognised as distribution  BERR A FE RIS
o non-controling interests ARARE = 980 = - - 980
At 31 March 2020 e e 3
=A=t-H 2,057 - - - 1,741 3798
Finance cost recognised (Note §) 2 BERAGHEER &K
(Bfzt9) - - - - 70 0
New lease entered RHREE - - - - 3,439 3,439
Financing cash flows BERLTE 480 (3,766) (5,000) - (2,274) (10,560)
Dividend recognised as distrioution B2 ERKEARNES
to shareholder - - 5,000 - - 5,000
Dividend recognised as distribution BB A& FFFERER
o non-controling interests FRERE - 4,900 - - - 4,900
At 31 March 2021 i S
ZA=1-A 2537 1,134 - - 2076 6,647



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

30. ACQUISITION OF ASSETS THROUGH ACQUISITION OF A

SUBSIDIARY

On 15 August 2019, the Group entered into a share
subscription agreement with New Legend Ferry Services
Limited (“New Legend”), pursuant to which, the Group has
agreed to subscribe the shares representing 51% equity
interest of New Legend to be allotted and issued by New
Legend upon the completion of the transaction at the
subscription price of HK$34,500,000.

The transaction was completed on 29 August 2019. Since
then, the Group has the right to nominate the majority of board
members to the board of directors of New Legend, which is
the authority of the power to direct the relevant activities of
New Legend. Accordingly, New Legend is accounted for as a
subsidiary of the Group.

The transaction is accounted for as acquisition of assets by
the Group as it does not constitute an acquisition of business
for which there is no significant process acquired by the
Group.

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HE-Z-_—F=A=1+—HILFE

30. EBRWBHEBEATWREEE

R-FE—-NFE/\A+HRA  ~&H
HMBERERRBERAB([FE
12 DRI RIB W - Bk - &
SEHRZABRND  HERX ST
RRIRFT BB R B ITH T B AR
51% x4 - #21E (& /3 34,500,000 78
T o

EBRXRGER =T —NLFNA
“ThHEZEK - Blitt AREHRE
BRHEREZTEPTALHUES=S
RE - MEEGAATEHBEMN
ARG NKEE - Hit - 2R
ARSI BAREE 2B RT]

HRASERAEERNKERERF
WX H MERREER - Bt
RHNRINERSBNEERES -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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30. ACQUISITION OF ASSETS THROUGH ACQUISITION OF A
SUBSIDIARY (Continued)
Further details of the acquisition are set out below:

0. EBUBHBLATKEEE
(%)
WIEFH 2 E—FFBHINET ¢

HK$’000
FET

Consideration transferred EEZE
Cash He 34,500
Assets, liabilities and non-controlling R iE A BEZ S E -

interest recognised at the date of BEERHZEREZ

acquisition
Amount due from the Group FE WA &R B /18 2,531
Other receivables H b W GRIE 7,077
Cash and cash equivalents HeMAEEEY 34,650
Property, plant and equipment ME - BERZE 26,041
Trade and other payables B 5 R H MR FRIE (2,531)
Non-controlling interests SRR M= (33,268)

34,500

HK$’000
FET

Net cash inflow arising in the acquisition of REWEHFERNBSRAFE

New Legend:
Cash and bank balances acquired EWIENRE RRTHEH 34,650
Less: Cash consideration B HeERE (34,500)
Net cash inflow during the year ended HE-_Z_TF=A=1+—HLFE

31 March 2020 IR B IMAHEE 150
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For the year ended 31 March 2021
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31. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 3. MBATER
Details of the subsidiaries of the Company as at the end of the RABRBERROHBERRER
reporting period are as follows: (N

Issued and
fully paid share

Place and date of
incorporation

Attributable equity
interest to the Company
Directly Indirectly
BRR FEEELER
HREH E% L

2021 2020 [N
cgo-f bkl -g--r [t

Name of subsidiaries Principal activities

HELFAARE IEER

EUEAEEVEE

Yun Lee (BV)

BH(RESARER)

KMY Marine Works &
Supplies Limited

MKK Marine Services
Limited

Yun Lee Tug Boat
Company Limited
EiERARLA

Universal Marine
Services Limited

FhEZRBARLA

Yun Lee Marine
Holdings Limited

EHEZARARAA

New Legend
nER
Yun Lee Pyromagic

DG Barge Limited
(*Yun Lee Pyromagic’)

BRI RRARA

([EMEE] )

British Virgin

Islands

16 November 2019
ABEARES
“E-NET-ATE
Hong Kong

25 September 2007

(3
“ZEEAAZTIR
Hong Kong

22 August 2014

(3
“2-MENAZTZH
Hong Kong

15 November 1994

(3
—ANBET-ATEE
Hong Kong

6 December 2002

(3
“2R-E4AAA
Hong Kong

30 January 2009

Bl

“2BAE-A=1A
Hong Kong

9 April 2019

B
“2-NEEANA
Hong Kong

4 January 2019

&%
“F-NE-AmA

US$t

1%7

HK$13,500
135007
HK$20,000
20,0007

HK$120,000

120,000 7
HK$10,000
10,0007

HK$10,000

10,0007

HK$30,000
30,0007

HK§$100

100737

100%

100% =

= 100%

= 100%

- 100%

= 100%

- 100%

= 51%

= 51%
(note a)

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

N/A

aH

Investment holding

RERK

Provision of vessel
chartering services

REMABERS

Provision of ship
management services

RUMHERRE

Provision of vessel
chartering and
related services

RERMEER
EBRE

Investment holding
REER

Provision of vessel
chartering and
related services

RIHHEER
HBRE

Provision of vessel
chartering services

REMARERS

Inactive

TR
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For the year ended 31 March 2021
BE_Z-_—F=-A=t+—HItFE

31. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the
end of the reporting period.

Notes:

a) During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group acquired Yun Lee
Pyromagic from an independent third party at HK$1 for 1 ordinary share.
Upon the completion of the acquisition, Yun Lee Pyromagic further
issued 50 and 49 ordinary shares to the Group and an independent third
party, respectively. Accordingly, the Group held 51% equity interest of
Yun Lee Pyromagic as at 31 March 2021.

b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material non-
controlling interests

The table below shows details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries of the Group
that have material non-controlling interests:

Place of

incorporation
and principal
place of

Proportion of ownership
interests held by
business non-controlling interests

LA
HEREE
EE

Name of subsidiaries

FERES TR

MEAREHE BREESLH

New Legend Hong Kong 49% 49%
HER BB

Profit allocated to
non-controlling interests

2021 2020 2021 2020
—B-—F

HK$’000
TER FTER TER TER

5,073 1,511

3. EARER (&)
RIEHR - BLENE AR ETE
A ERSES

a) HEZ-_-—F=-A=1+—HIEE"
REEBLBITM—BBLFE=FWE
HREE1RE K - TRAEBKES
Hig  BNEE M AEB R —%E
NE=TE— S EIT0R R AR E R
e Bl RZE=Z—F=RA=+—
B AEEFEEMNEES1%E ©

b) HEABEAFZEREDRNFZENBEDR

G

TREIAEEEEERFERERNIER
BB A BRHS

Accumulated
non-controlling interests

AEEFERER

B R R Rt FERER

Ll - -7 et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

33,799

33,972
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For the year ended 31 March 2021
HE_Z-_—F=A=+—HIFE

31. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 3. MEARER (&)
Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s ERBBEEANEEREENAS
subsidiary that has material non-controlling interests is set out ZHEBATTBEEREESHY W
below. The summarised financial information below represents T o THEBBEEEBEEAEFRNA
amounts before intragroup eliminations. AL L AT S5 o

2021 2020
—E-—fF —EEHF
HK$’000 HK$’000
TR TR

New Legend HER
Current assets MBEE 10,460 15,344
Non-current assets EMENEE 63,911 57,032
Current liabilities RBEE (2,920) (2,788)
Non-current liabilities FERBEE (2,120) (610)
Equity attributable to owners of RARER AFE(GERE

the Company 35,359 35,179
Non-controlling interests IEVE R = 33,972 33,799
Revenue WA 49,429 23,034
Cost of sales SHE KA (38,010) (17,869)
Expenses 53 (2,573) (1,471)
Profit and total comprehensive income FERMNREMBEEEE

for the year 10,354 3,083
Profit and total comprehensive income RARHEE AEE T R

attributable to owners of the Company FHNREBRE 5,281 1,572
Profit and total comprehensive income e IR R A PR B F

attributable to non-controlling interests FEWEEEEE 5,073 1,511

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests of 2 1< 1 B2 JFIE AL A 25
New Legend &2 (4,900) (980)

Net cash inflow from operating activities KEEBRBRMAFRE 12,118 14,676

Net cash outflow used in investing activities & & EBFTAIR &

T RE (10,124) (38,324)

Net cash (outflow) inflow from BEEEHR S ORLE)R
financing activities it (10,000) 32,503
Net cash (outflow) inflow WOt mAFE (8,006) 8,855



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2021

HE

32.

33.

—E-—F=ZA=+—HIFE

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group entered into
new lease agreements for the use of leased properties for 2
years. On the lease commencement, the Group recognised
HK$3,439,000 (2020: HK$843,000) of right-of-use assets and
HK$3,439,000 (2020: HK$843,000) lease liabilities.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

Pursuant to a resolution passed on 20 September 2018 by
the Company, a share option scheme of the Company (the
“Share Option Scheme”) that complies with the provisions of
Chapter 17 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to recognise and
acknowledge the contributions that the eligible participants
have had or may have made to the Group. The eligible
participants include any employee, directors, advisers,
consultants, suppliers, customers and agents to the Company
or any of its subsidiaries.

The exercise price for any share under the Share Option
Scheme shall be a price determined by the board of directors
of the Company and shall not be less than the highest of:
(i) the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for trade in one or more
board lots of the shares on the offer date of the relevant
option, which must be a day on which the Stock Exchange is
open for the business of dealing in securities (a “Trading Day”);
(i) the average closing price of the shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five Trading
Days immediately preceding the offer date of the relevant
option; and (jii) the nominal value of a share on the offer date.
For the purpose of calculating the subscription price where the
Company has been listed for less than five Trading Days, the
offer price of the shares shall be used as the closing price of
the shares for any Trading Days falling within the period before
the listing date.

32.

33.

FEFREXRS

HE_ZET-_—4F=FA=+—H81t
FE - AEBEREREEWET
VEBERENFHRERZ - KA
ERBER AEBEERRFEAE
& FE3,439,000% m(Z T = T
F:843,0008 L) N HE B E
3,439,000 (= T = T F:
843,000 7T) °

UiRBBER 2 ARXS
BEBEARRR_ZT—N\FALAZT
FABBMRER  NARKMA—IA
NEeBEHEXZMARRARRES
LR AN A7 ERC A EE A E T 8
(TRER Rt &) -

BREFINENRRIFRREA
BER2EEERMASEEL A
RAKBIEHOER ° 176 R4 H
2EEREARNALEETAMER
FINERET % EM - %N
A~ HER - ERPRAREA -

BRETE TERRNDNITEER
AARNRESSETNER BT
SERUTSENTSE  ()RH
RIEEERES LB (AR AT
FAHEEEAFAMBTUIRSE]))E
R ABRERREE —FuZ
FROMMBOWTE : ()RHORE
ERRERESZNAHAIRAERS
BEBZAESERERAERN TS
Wi R (i) RORELHBHNHE
B BifEARRLEMERIRA
AXZEHNREE BRENEEE
FEFRE LT BEBRTEMR 5 B AR
MDERTI(E -
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33. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Continuea)

The Share Option Scheme will expire on 19 September 2028.

An option shall be deemed to have been granted and
accepted by the grantee and to have taken effect when the
duplicate offer document constituting acceptance of the
options duly signed by the grantee, together with a remittance
in favour of the Company of HK$1.00 by way of consideration
for the grant thereof, is received by the Company within such
time as may be specified in the offer (which shall not be later
than 21 days from the offer date).

The exercise of any option shall be subject to the shareholders’
general meeting approval for any necessary increase in the
authorised share capital of the Company.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option scheme established by the Company, if
any, is 100,000,000, representing 10% of the issued share
capital of the Company at the date of approval of the Share
Option Scheme. The total maximum number of shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options
granted and yet to be exercised under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option scheme, if any, shall not
exceed 10% of the issued share capital of the Company.

No share options have been granted, exercised, cancelled or
lapsed under the Share Option Scheme since its adoption.

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HE-Z-_—F=A=1+—HILFE

33. UIRIABERZARKE (&)

BRESE BN -_ZF_NFENHA
TABEIE -

ARRRRBL A EEBERE (T
ERNBABHES21B)RERK
RALAZEENEABRENE
HWXMER - ERNFARRR1.00
BILZRAER/RRLBRENKE
% BEREANERIEFEREREE
AERARAREER °

EAERENTEYAERRRK
RARGHE - DURB AR BEVEE
B

RIFERERT S R A ARFZRINE
A EM R EG S P ER LM
REERENRSRNHEB(E)
#$100,000,000 % - 18 & B8 Ak 1
S E B AR R B BT AR
10% ° 1T B AR #E 5T &8 SR (E ] E b
BRETEETHNMAEEEREER
TEEBREMAIEZEITN&ESKRHG
BE(WB)TEBBAAF D BT
IEAR)10% ©

B R B R 8 DA - B E R
BR - 1T(E -~ eESHERR -
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34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES OF THE 34. IR RRAQEHE
COMPANY

2021 2020
SE L

HK$’000 HK$’000
TR TR

Non-current assets ERBEE
Investment in a subsidiary R—REMH B AR RRE 63,504 63,504
Amounts due from subsidiaries JrE U B 8 A B FRIE 47,100 54,667
110,604 118,171
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments TR FRIE - 131
Bank balances and cash RITEEBRRS 1,835 2,558
1,835 2,689
Current liability REBEE
Other payables E e RIA 4,466 1,717
Net current assets REEEFE (2,631) 972
107,973 119,143
Capital and reserves EXRHE
Share capital & 7 10,000 10,000
Reserves G 97,973 109,143
Total Equity A 107,973 119,143
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For the year ended 31 March 2021
HE-_ZT-—F=A=t+—HIFE

34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES OF THE 34. BB RRRAQEM#EZ)
COMPANY (Continued)
Movement in the Company’s reserves AATEEREE)

Share Capital Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
BRGRE EXREE ZitEE wat
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHExT FET FExT
At 1 April 2019 RZZE—NF
mH—H 133,728 4,634 (19,567) 118,795
Loss and total comprehensive F[E 18 &
expense for the year PHEX B — — (9,652) (9,652)
At 31 March 2020 KRB -ZF
=A=+—8 133,728 4,634 (29,219) 109,143
Loss and total comprehensive F[Z &8 &
expense for the year 2HEX NEEE = — 6,170) (6,170)
Dividend paid EfIRE — - (5,000) (5,000)
At 31 March 2021 N-ZT——4F
=A=+—8 133728 4,634 (40,389) 97,973
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
B BRE

A summary of the results and assets, liabilities and equity of HEAAEERBRERENLD FIBEKEZ
the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the BB ESTLEMBEEECEER
Prospectus and the published audited financial statements, is set BE BENMEZRBEEHWOT o AN
out below. This summary does not form part of the audited financial BW T ERKEZMIEHRRZ —ZD °
statements.

RESULTS E3

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
Sl %7 “E-hF —®-N\F Bt
HK’000 HK’000 HK’000 HK’000 HK’000

g ¥l TEn FER TER TER

Revenue Wi 226,194 202,418 181,010 213,048 190,392
Gross profit £ 60,242 51,608 54,155 60,978 50,494
Listing expenses il - - 14,596 3,886 -
Profit for the year attributable to RARRIE=ERFB A

equity holders of the Company JE A F % A 25,020 9,700 11,753 32,398 22,162

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND EQUITY EE - BERES

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
bbbl —E_2F —_E-hF —E-N\F ZB—+F
HK’000 HK’000 HK’000 HK’000 HK’000
FEx FET FEx FEx FET

Non-current assets FRBEE 114,379 86,465 32,380 28,661 27,309
Current assets RBEE 164,999 165,320 176,117 85,267 83,270
Total assets mEE 279,378 251,785 208,497 113,928 110,579
Current liabilities REAE 29,304 24,599 26,765 41,621 54,027
Net current assets REBEEFE 135,695 140,721 149,352 43,646 29,243
Total assets less current liabilities ~ #EERTENEME 250,074 227,186 181,732 72,307 56,552
Net assets BEFE 241,546 221,353 177,854 68,743 52,949
Equity attributable to equity holders AR BIHEZEHA A

of the Company e e 207,574 187,554 177,854 68,743 43,367
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